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IX THE MATTER OF A CO:VDIISSIO:N appointing the HONOl~RABLE 
HARRISO:N ANDREW \IrKEOWN a Commi::,sioner to enquire into 
and report upon affairs of the HO:'.\1E BA:N.K OF CANADA. 

AND IX THE MATTER OF THE PETITION of the Dcpo::,itorR in the said 
HOME BANK OF CANADA. 

, • Before.the Honoura.blc Chief .Tu:-tice McKeown, the above named Royal 
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Commit>.,;ioner, at Ot~awa, on Friday, the 16th day of l\fay, 1924. 

Counsel: 
Et,Gf:NE LAFLEl'R, K.C., AND H. J. i-Y'.\1INGTON, K.C., 

for the U01·er11mrnt of the Dominion of Canarla-. 
Q 

R. J. :McLArGHLIN, K.C., A. G. ~ROWXIKG, KC., and W. T. J. L'EE, 
for the J)epositors . • 

McGREGOR Y ucNG, K.C., for the Attornr y-G11)1ral of Ontario. 

R. A. REID, for ctrtnin shan holder~ (oJJp08inu the double liability}. 
\ 

Sir Tno;,,us WHITE, KC., ap1waring 011 Jn"s ov·n behalf. 

~1r. LEE: My lord, whrn we concluded la~t evening I wa~ speaking in ref­erence to Exhibit No. 106. In Exhibit No. 105, at the end of the page, Mr. Lash ~aid t0 Sir Thomas White:-
" I feel that the conclusion which you arrived at, to allow the new 

management to make thec::e pfforts, was a wi-,e one in the public interest, 
and I feel equally sure that a continuation of thitl attitude on your part 
will be further justified by the rcrnlt." 

I have no doubt in my mind that Mr. La~h was qmte Rerious when he wrote that letter, and especially t!10Re word,-: " and I feel equally sure that a contin­uation of this attitude on your part will be further juetified by the rrsult." 
Now we pass on to Exhibit Xo. 107. Wliile pasRing may I call your lord­ship's attrntion t.o page 204, copy of a ledger statrment requested by t'.1e :'.\Iinis­ter on the Pellatt demand loans. I call ynur lordship's attention to tLe debts of $337,840 on principal on September 12.th, Ort.ober 25th and November 24th. 
Then Exhibit No. 107 (194) in rdcrence to the Prudential loan, a state­ment of the indebtedncf'" as of November 15, 1918, your lordship will see there $1,665,428.96 owing, and they state that unpaid intcre~t amounting to $688,-966.42 in the account of t.he A. C. Frost Company, and $234,995.11 in the New Orlean8 account has been added to princip~l and taken into profits. If Sir Thomas White ever got that statement, and I think he did, there was a direct statement from the officers of this bank that they had been padding these accounts. Such a statement should have directed his mind to the idea that now the::;e gentlemen were coming out into the open, they were beginning to tell the truth. He should have had the idea in his mind that " although I- have been fooled up to the pre:oent time I can be fooled no, longer, and the proper idea is that I must have an independent audit and investigation of these acco~nts.''" 
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If he turn:: over the n(•:-...t paJ!;t or two of thi,.; statement that he is ,-aid to 

have receivrd, on page 200, hP will find f'bndinp; out in large letter::1 that nobody 

rould fail to ,:ee the word~:-

,. Intrn :,;t: Taken into profib, ~688,966.42. 
Not taken into profits, ~253,737.54." 

If up to thi~ time tl1c HLmourablc :'.\Iinic:tPr of Finance had LN'n ,Jeeping at the 

swit-1·h, here wa-; printed in lurirc lt·ttPrs for him or any one to ::;ee who might 

have desired to ,:ee, this fact tbat they had pad<led tlwse t:'tat<cmPnt..; to the 

extent of 8688,966.42. Miglit not that kwe been an indication to his mind thu t " 

this Board of Direl'tor,-, this management that he had put hi<; confidenl'e in, the 

leading eounsel who !tttd been A:,..;i,.;tant Minister of Justice in the Government 

of this eountry in whom we liad the grratc-t confidence, had sent him a f'bte- t 1 
ment and on that statement it appe:.1rn that they had taken into profits $688,966 

of unpaid intcrr:ot? It r,,et>ms to me that.if the Honourable- Mini::;ter of Finance, 

directing the affairs of this country, 11ad been looking over the ,,ituation seri-

ou-:ly it would have drawn his mind to this fart, that ::;omebody was being 

--eriou-;ly fooled. And who wa,.; that somebody? That :-omebody was the gentle-

man in whom ~ir Thomas White had the irrcatc-:t eonfidPnce. 

Now we pass on t-0 Exhibit No. 132 in which we find the po,-ition of this 

bank. On the 29th of February, 1916, we find a letter written by Mr. La'--h to 

Mr. Fi,,her and a c·0py of thi,, lettn wa:' I think, i:qcluderl in the Fisher file-if 

I am not speaking by the rel'ord my lcarnld friend" will correct me. In -this 

letter there had been drawn to the attentiun of tlll·--e "·e,;tcrn Direct-0rs by Mr. 

La.,;h the faet that he at a certain period of time had given very serious con­

sideration to the :situation, and that within one month and seven days after the 

statPments had brPn made by these We:-krn Din•et.or:- he wrote this letter, in 

which he said:-
" The more I con::1ider the bank's position, enn assuming that every 

account will ultimately be colle<·ted in full, the more doubtful I feel as 

to the possibility of its rnntinuing in businc~-,." 

Mr. McLAUGHLIN: This letter was not before the Minister. 

Mr. SYMINGTo::-;: No, it wac, not before the Mini,-tcr. 

Mr. LEE: I think my learned friends are speaking correctly when tlwy 

say this letter was not before the Minister; but this letter was before the 

Wc::;tern Directors, and particularly was it before Mr. Crerar, one of those 

Directors, and it is for that purpose that I am reading this letter. 

Mr. SYMINGTON: There is no evidenee that Mr. Crerar knew of it; it was 

Mr. Fisher. \ 

Mr. LEE: I think ::io. 'Mr. La:,h wrote this letter to Mr. Fisher and I think 

in the evidence of :y{r_ Crerar it will be found that he admits that he saw it. In 

this letter he says:- , 

" The more I consider the bank's po:sition, even a:,-;uming that every 

account will ultimately be collected in full, the more doubtful I feel as 

to the possibility of it,, continuing in bu;;:iness. The amount locked up 

indefinitely in four large accounts, is probably three times the paid-up 

capital, and more than half the total deposits; and if anything should 

take pla(•e which would cau-;e a comparatively small percentage of the 

depositors to ask for their money, I do not see how the bank could, with­

out assistance from outside, continue with open doors." 

If we believe Mr. Lash, and I have not any reason to doubt what he says, he 

told Sir Thomas:-
" I told Sir Thomas that my main object, since I learned the outline 

of what the bank's position was, has been to bring about a position 
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which, if the worRt happened, would result in liquidat!on with oprn door,... 
This can only be brought about by the a-..:i,-,t.mre of other banks, and I 
want definite irn,tru!'tion..: from the Board a:- to how far I may go in this 
direction. in con,mltation with Sir Thomas White, for he is now an e.;,cn­
tial element in the situation, whieh rannot be disregarded. He told me, 
and I could not <li~pute t!1c correctness of his po,-,ition, that, after you, 
on behalf of the Winnipeg Directors, had rnbmitted to him information 
which, to say the very least, was very disturbing, the responsibility was 
thrown upon him, which he could not avoid,"--

and Sir Thoma,; was perfectly right at that time-
" And whirh would not be di..:drnrged bceauRe those who had invited 

his intervention might desire him to withhold further action. The state­
ments relating to the three aerounts about whirh he.askPcl for information, 
were srnt to him on the 22nd or 23rd." 

Now I pas<; on to page 310 and there I think you will find what Sir Thomas 
;:;ay~ ww; in his mind at that time. I have no quarrel with the Honourable the 
Minister of Finance u.pon that question, b1)l'ause nobody could know better than 
he what '.va::; in his mind at that time, but I am going to try to draw to your 
lonhhip's mind what I think should have been in his mind at that time, other than 
the reasons alleged by him..:elf. And what elm•,: he ;:ay was in his mind? At 
page 310 Sir Thomas White .:;aid:-

''ln refraining from bringing t!1e matter to the attention of the 
Bankers' A;:-,,ociation I wa,; influencl'1l by three things:- · 

"(1) The harmonizing of the Board and it-, ,,tatements aR to the 
position and prospert..; of the bank. That wa~ quite influential with me. 
They were all content and all agreed on Mr. Haney, and wanted to go 
ahrad. The Wc,::tern Director,; had praetically withdrawn their later 
request. 

"(2) Crerar's letter on behalf of Western Dire<'tors. That is the 
second influence on mv mind, a direet influence. 

"(3 l Rrluctance t~ take action whieh might bring down a bank which 
while it might have to face a lo--~ on one or more accounts, appeared to be 
,-.olvent and to have ifa capital intact, becau,,c its Board had said that it 
would be found that its capital was intact, in their opinion." 

~ow we get a few more rc:.t:-,on-; from the Honourable the Minister of 
Finance, at page 318 whnc he ~ays :-

"I was of the opinion at that time that there wa-; a quarrel between 
l\Ir. Haney and Mr. Machaffie; that wa~ ~uggcsted by Mr. Lash's letter 
and by the terms of this .resolution of the Board. · I am only giving my 
view at that time." · 

I am wondering what right the Honourable the Mini,.,ter of Finance had to 
assume that the ;;tatcments that had been made to him by the Directors of this 
bank, in whom by this time I should assume that he had lo.,,t a certain amount 
of his confidence, that the rea-;on for his not .paying more attention to the state­
ment~ of :\1aehaffie, why he should have assumed the fact that there was a 
quarrel between Machaffie and Hanry. Had he not found that a great number of 
l\lachaffie'.-; statrments were true? Had he not reason to believe that that danger 
signal which had been given at various times was still burning brightly? Had he 
not rea-,on to believe that that danger signal which he had been given, was 
becoming brighter? And that that flag, which he looked upon as white in 1916 
had become red? These are the reasons which should have prompted his mind, 
and not the statement that is made that "I was of the opinion at that time that 
there was a quarrel bctwrcn Mr. Haney and l\fr. l\1achaffie"? What did the 
Honourable the Minister of Finance do to find out whether that statement, 

, 
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rontainPd in that letter, wa~ true? It is true th:1t he ,uotc a letter to Mr. 
!\Iachaffie acknowledgin~ the receipt of his communication, but other than that 
I 11:we bren unabie to find any communication from the Honourable the Mini,-ter 
of Finance to Mr. Machaffie; otht>r than that lettn of courtef-:y which one husinrPs 
man din·ck t,> anuther wlirn he acknowledges the r~ccipt of his letter. I would 
have thought that in all ordinary decency of public - life, that after he had 
recl•ived thi:,; tbtemrnt, he would have «rnt a eopy of it to :Mr. 1Iachaffie. That 
he would have mid to Marhaffie: You have been an honourable ::,ervant of this 
bank, you have ::;ervcrl them faithfully for a long number of year,;, you have 
bPrn in t.hc "ervice of the Bank of Briti,:,h North America, and of the Merchant-;' 
Bank for a long number of years, and in the ::;ervice of this bank, and common 
derency requirt>s me to st~nd you, Macliaffie, who have given me the,;e ideas about 
thi:,; bank, these danger signals, you· have stated to me and made certain charges; • 
I ::hould have thought that in all decency this J\1inif-ter of Finance would have 
:,;aid to Mr. Machaffie: here is a ropy of tl1~ answer which the Directors of this 
bank make to your charge,;. Did the Honourable the :Mini-;ter of Finance do 
that? No, he did not. He fec>ms to have forgotten all about the assiPtant to the 
President and he pays wry little if any attention to him afterwards. But we 
find a further reason of Sir Thomas whPn we come to look at page 319, in that 
communication whil'h is referred to a-; Exhibit 97 and which ap.pears at page 187. 
He ,.:aid:-

"If as a matter of fact there i,; abundanee of ser.urity so that the 
principal and th<' interest which is added is well secured, my view was then 
and is now that it would properly rome into earnings." 

That is a part of Sir Thoma;; White',, -;tatcment. I had thought it v, :1,-; a 
part of the letter .of Oetobl'r 31--t, 1918, and I beg your lord,-hip's pardon if I 
gave you that impre-,ion. It is a part of :-iir Thomas Whitt-':;; eYidcn"e appear­
ing at p:tge 319. Pa,-.,ing on to pa~c• 321 ~ir Thomas say<i:-

" Wrong infcrcnre::i have brPn drawn from it, I think inadvertently 
and I think it will help to 1·lcar up t1 e situation. Thi;; i,: ,an intPrvil'w 
whic·h I gave the press. I may ,:ay that in the interview,:, which I gave 
t.o the pre,-; from 1.ime to time, lwrau:ol', a:,; I regardcrl it, I wa-. very 
unfairly attacked, I had not before me the papers, the d,irnmrnb, the 
rN·ords, whieh were in the Finan!'l' Department, and whiC"h down to thP 
pre::1ent time have bt>Pn there." , 

Far be it from me, my lord, to attac•:( Sir Thomas "\Yl,ite or any othrr 
~linister unfairly; but I don't think that I would he prop,•rly doing my duty 
to my ('lirnts unk--; I drew to your lordsl1ip's att<ntion thr,-e variuu-. lLlngrr 
signals whil'11 Sir Thoma,; White had during all this time. My lcarne1l ltndPr, 
in his remarks to your lordship at various times, con::1idend that up to a eNtuin 
period of time Sir Thoma.: vVhitr, riglitlv or wrongly, during the progm-~ of 
the:--e nrµ:otiafo,ns and of the~e Ltlh with the Directors of the bank, had ~ome 
rea'ion for considering that thrre were diffa-ultir-; upon thi;-; Bo:mi and that hl' a,: 
a wise :rvlini:5ter, having regard tu all I nn-.idrrntion-. and havi'lg rc·g:1rd to the 
interests of the people of Canada, nnd lwing the guardihn, ,o to -peak, of the 
monPys in all the bank,.: of Canada, that he ,-hould in doing his duty bring to 
the attention of thi~ Board of Director.;; surh a feeling that enrybody would 
grt along very nicely. It is true I think that he did hiti duty up to 1hat timl. 
I don't think that there is any great quarrl'l with thr HonouraLle the J\Iini,-.ter 
-of Finance up to tl,at t:me, but when ::\fr. Maehaffie make,; thl':-e f'erious charge,;;, 
which the 1\Iini-.ter admit-. wPn" mo:-:;t serious, it strikes me, my lor<i,-in the light 
of course of after event-.-that the Honourable the J\Iinic;tcr of Finance, who harl 
been placed as the ru;:;todian and the guardian of the monry::1 of thc> people of 
this country, ~hould not have been bamboozlrLl, fhould not have brrn fooled 
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by any statcmPnt of Mr. Haney, the Pre;:;ident of this bank, or by any statements 
thut Mr. Machaffie or \Ir. Lash or any other member of the Board of Director,; 
mude to him. Sir Thuma::; was placed in this po,,ition. Why? He wu:,; placc·d 
in thi::; po-,ition because of the training which he had received in finanrial 
matters. He was placed in this position because for a long period of time he 
had ber.n the manager of a large and influential trust company in the City of 
Toronto. He had bern plal'rd in this po--ition 'because he was the ae~ociate 
of this very same Mr. Lash who had himself been the assistant to the Minister 
of Ju..;tire in a former Government of this country. The people of this country 
may make mi,::takrs ,::umrtimes. Barnum once said, that you can fool all the 
prople half the time•, and half the pcoplr all the time, but you C'annot fool all 
the people all the time. Sir Thomas was fooled half of the time. My learned 
friend be.;;ide me says " all the t:mr." I won't µ;o that fur. I han too much 
rnm-ideration for the Honourable the Nlini:-;tcr of Finanrc',;i k1'cn legal acumen. 
He wa-; fooled half the time. But in 1918 up to the time at which he went out 
of office, which was the balanl'e of his term, he should not luwe been fooled the 
othtr half of the time. The people of this country are looking to the Minister 
of FinanrP as the guardian of their right.o. Thry are not looking to the Premier 
,of this country a:> the guar<lian of their rights in thi,: re:,;pect; they are not 
)ooking to the Premier 6f this country as guarding their money; they are looking 
to thr Mini::-ter of Finance to guard their money and the question that arises 
before your lor<li-hip is: did he do his duty, hone~tly, fairly, a» he should have 
known it at that time? 
, "\Ve have made certain allegations on behalf of these depo"itors. The 
quc~tion ari:,;es now: Have we proved them? I have submitted to your lordship, 
and my learned leader has, all the evidenrr I think that fairly bears on this 
mattPr regarding the matter as Sir Thomas White\, mind was. Sir Thomas rame 
to this po:;:ition with a very splendid record. He left it with a splendid record. 

I tru,t that no word::: I may utter to your lordRhip will sully that record, 
a fine type of a mun, a i-plcndid citizen, but I must say, in the light of after 
event~. wanting, in my opinion, in that common, ordinary judgment, which men 
exprd other men will have holding surh a high, honournble and re'3ponsible 
po-,ition a,; the Honourab:e :Minister of Finance did during _these year;,. 

It is quit1· true, and more honour to the Honourable :Minister, Mr. White, 
that he was working i:,pventePn to eightcrn hours a day during that period. 
Tremendous difficultiPs were being pre:'rnted to him every day;, He was being 
called upon thr telephone all hours of the night. Sometimrs I wonder how he 
got t.hrough. SomPtimrs I wonder that he i:,1 able to be with us to-day, and to 
trll of those trrrible difficuifa, whirh were <·onfronting this small coun,try of 
ni11P millions of people rarrying 450,000 men on itQ roll fighting battle's day by 
<lay during tho,::e t-errible and perilous years. Sometimes I wonder that thP, 
phy,::ique of Rir Thomas ever ,toad the '-train, and, up to 1918, I do not wonder 
at, all that the little Home Bank was forgotten in the midst of all the trial;; 
and tribulations which Sir Thomas mm=t have had. 

The learned Government counsel, Mr. Lafleur, was exreedingly kind, I 
thought, to ~fr. MachaffiP. Some people would have thought, and po!-Sibly it 
might have touched your lorckhip's mind, that Mr. :Machaffie, when he wrote 
:this letter making a certain retraction, took away much of the force and effect 
which it might have had in your lor<lship''- mind. Machaffie was a responsible 
official of this bank. He had done his work faithfullv anrl wrll, and hone~tly. 
No man can point his finger at MarlrnffiP and say that he was not an hon­
ourahlr and ,true official of this bank. 

I am not here to defend ~fachaffie's conduct, but this I am here to say, 
and that is that I wish in all the banking ,institutions of this country it could 
be lwrahled from one end of the country to the other that we had men of the 



692 HOYAL CO llJfJSSION 

;;terling and trur type of l\IudrnJfie, -to draw the.: attention of the mrn in high 
phn·:' in banb and b::tnking in,..titution" the "arm' a-; ~fachdfie drew to thl' 
attention of tlie Honourabk· Mini:-tn of Finanre at this timC'. 

It is true Marhaffie had left the i'crvice of this bank, it i-, true that 
:'.\Iahaffic had had :'Orne little ciifficulfa-- with the Pre,ident of thi" bank. Whv 
would not any man !u,ve had diffirnlties with Mr. Haney undrr rirrun;­
,:brn (•,; where he i,.: drawing to the att0ntion of Mr. Haney tlw fact that hr, 
Mr. Hanry, i:,; doing ,..0mething whirh he, Marhaffie, as a banhr, could not 
agrrr with? And what wa,.: he doing? Mr. Haney was doing thing,- that in 
hi--. Mar!taffie'r-, opinion were :apcrubtive. Mr. Hnncy was, in my opinion-­
and I am ,.:ubjret to corrrc·tion-doing thing,.; whi1·;1 no sound banker could 
agrrr with. Speculation,.:? Yrs. Charges that he made? YC',-. Whv? 
l\fadiaffie did not care particularly wlwthrr hr was Manager of this hank 'or 
not. It i,.: ~rue tliat they appuintrd him, but thi, mincl, tl!is -;trong mind, as i,; 
statrd in one letter, of Mr. Hanry, ~rpm~ to have overpuwererl and chloro­
formed two gentlemen in this bank. And who were thc-.e grntlrmen? Fir-.:t, 
Mr. La"h, t,nd thPri, throuµ:h Mr. La~h, Sir Thoma-, ·white. 

Now, if I 11ave ,-tated t.le evidtn1•e c-nrre<'tly, ancl if I have not overdrawn 
tlil' force and rffr c·t of thi;: evidrnrr in your lonbhip',- mind, and if you believr 
the ,-tatrmrnb, subjert to what the Honourab!r Mini,.:ter of Finance ha'-' tu 
-.:ay about the correopondrrn·r, I ,-uhmit to your lord--hip that, after 1918, it 
matter:' not what wa,-. in Sir Thoma-- ·white\ mind before that, that hr wa•, 
after 1918, after the rr(•riJ]t of l\b.('haffie'.;; letter, guilty of a ii;rrat dcrrlidion 
of duty to the people of thi..; country, and to the patronR of thi:- bank in par­
ticular. We rnnnot get away from that, muc-h as we like him and love him. 
we have got to plare the,;p fad.., before the peopl!' of tbi,- country. 

He spoke, I think in one communication, of the affairs of this. countrv 
being ro,;y. Of cour,-;e they were. They were painter! with that bru,-h, and th."' 
1·anvas wac;; prPparcd whl·re rvrrything was made loverly for Rir Thoma-, 
and for the bank, and for the poor people of this C'Ountry to put in anotlwr 
ten million'- of their hard-earned ,-avings, which they had ,triven and toilrrl 
for for many years. 

Mr. SYMINGTON: Thne wa..; a derrrase after 1918. 

Mr. LEE: From the time in June of 1916 up to 1918 thrre had bern art 
inrreas.e in the dcpo~it,-; of this bank. Rir Thomas was aware that new branche~ 
were being r,-tabli,-hrrl.; twenty-eight of them had been e~tabli--hed, twtnty­
eight of tht:'m that took in threr million and some orld tltou;«md dollars up to the 
time at ,vhich this bank su--pended. The old branl'he:,; had brrn ,..tj]l taking in 
the money. It was "Bring it along boys, we will keep the darned thing going 
all the time on yuur deposits." That was about th~ position, as it look-; to 
me, in the light of after events, but I want to try and pierc-r the mind of that 
Honourabl€ :\iini,,ter of Finance, who had not been put there just to be a lovely 
ornament. He had been put there hr1·auRf' he> wa;- a :-ane, sound thinking bu:<ine~s 
man. He had bern put into that rrspomiblc po-ition brrause he had bern head 
of a very great Trust Company. 

Rom<,times politics may throw men into poRitions that they are not fitt<•d 
for but this was not the ra,:e, and when this war came on it wa:< a grand thing 
to look out upon that horizon and to know that here we have at the helm oi 
the Ship of State in this country a man who ran twist and turn and carry the 
finances of this country upon his shoulders. We had that man. They ,:ay that 
when great crisis rome in the affairs of nationR that men .are provided. Sir 
Thomas was provided for us when this war came on; he was a heavenly ble:-sing 
sent to us, and, during that crif'is, we worked him 16, 17 and 18 hours a day. 

T.hc people of thif' country will never know what they owe to 8ir Thomas 
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White during all those terrible years of that war when tho,-,e boys were ·giving up 
their live::, on the fields of Flanders to prot<'d this country_ , He was giving up 
his life, prart:eally, in his offiee in the Parliament Bu:Iding::; of this country, and 
had the war lu-tcd long enough, notwith,.:tanding his magnificent physique, he 
would probably have given up his life looking after the interrsts of this 

eountry. 
Ther;e danger signals were drawn to hi:i attention, the lights were hung high 

in the i:;ky. He di:irC'garded all those danger signals; he let the lever be opened, 
he did not throw on the emergency brake. When he looked at hi;; gauge in 
his office, as he should h::n-e, he ought to have seen that the pressure here was 
up to 150 pounds. He should have seen that this bank was .working oYertime 
in taking the deposits of the poor people of this country. He should have seen 
that the1:,r deposits were incrc asing. and t!iat the poor peoplr's money was bein1,:, 
takrn, and that he had three or four danger signal-, which they did not know 
anything about and which he knew all about. 

If he had not any power under the Bank. A.ct, whic-h I submit he will 
probably argue he had nut, to clo:5e this bank, he, at lc.1~t, miirht have given to 
thof'e poor, innocmt, suffering people, by way of the Pres.,, some '.ittle glimmer 
of the,;e danger signals facin~ him so that thy might have had a clanger signal 
to not put any more money into a bank which was tottering, }Vhich w.i,; shattrred 
by .reason of the actions of it-- Directors, and its managC'ment, over a large pNiod 

of years. 
Tf the people of this country are not to expect any bcttC'r trPatment of the 

banking systC'm of this country than has been given to it by Sir Thomas White. 
then what I feel and fear is that the people of thi;; eountry will lose all confid­
ence in the banking system of this eountry, and when that period of time arrivP" 
God hPlp the banking sy:;tem of this C'ountry. But I haVP ,:ome confidence in 
the banking system of this rountry. I feel ,ve have got a young count,ry. The 
only thing required at the present time is work, and work steadily, but if you 
once C'>3tablish in the mind,,; of the people of this country that they have no 
confidence in the Mini'>tcrs of Finance of this country, then that confidence' 
which has been so :--tC'adily looked after by the bankers of this c<'.>untry for a 
pPriod of eighty or ninety years, once lost, will take a long time to regain. 

Your lordship might a,k me '' Are you not going to refer to the evideneP 
of Sir Henry Drayton?" :::;ir Henry was abo a ~linister of Finance of thi,; 
country. A greater respon"ibility re;-ted upon him, in my opinion, than it did 
upon Sir Thumm, ·white, and your lordship will ask me why? He had no war 
to· contrnd with. Hr did not haw to work nin~tC'C'n hours a day as Sir Thoma,­
had. He went on with his ordinary ,rnrk, in his ordinary way, but, above all 
things, my lord. he had thi,; advantage over Sir Thoma-;: He had the advantage 
of Sir Thomas' wisdom; he had the advantage of looking over the file that Sir 
Thomas had. That file wa;; alway,; in the Department .of Finance. He had the 
benefit and the advantage of expcrienC'e of having been the Crown Attorney 
of one of the largest rountir•s in thP Provinrr of Ontario. He had the advan­
tage of having been a eoun:-C'l of the scrnnd largest city in the Dominion of 
Canada. He had brought to that position that ripe {:Xperienre of a man who 
had been dealing with all cla:oses of people for a long period of time. 

Now, from a man of Sir Henry Drayton's experience, we expect more than 
po";ibly we did, or might have expected, from Mr. White when he assumed thic: 
po!-ition, and what could we exprct from Sir Henry? We could expect, at least, 
after he had looked over the file;; of Sir Thoma-,, that he would have paid a 
little attention to those files. Did he do anything? Oh, yes. He sat down and 
he wrote some lett_crs, like a famous statesman in the United States prior to 
the war, he wrote three' or four letter", but still the money kept pouring in and 
pouring in, and the poor depositors monC'y was being taken every day. 
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And what was th£' fir:,t thing that he dirl? He WPnt over ~ir Thoma,, 
\Vhite':,, file. He ~arl it l'ardully, an<l he must have come to some conclusion. 
I have been looking over the record-, of the evidcnl·e pre;:ented hete for some 
time, and I have begun to wundt>r ,vhat this Honourable Mini--trr of Finance 
ever did to earn his ,mlary, f'O far a,; the Home Bank i::- eoneerrn·d. A very hon­
ourable chap, a very honourable gent km~n, but i_., that what the people of this 
rountry are paying Mini,-.tPrs of Finance rnr, to sit down and allow a ship whieh 
i:; ,.:kadily eoming nearer the shoal;, and the rorks to go on tho,;e roc·ks and not 
try to prewnt that ship from going on them? But that i:,; what Sir Henry Dray­
ton did. He allowed that Rhip to get nearer, and nearer, and nrarer ewry <lay, 
1,nd then when he went out of offire he pa"-ed it on with a word to his suc·c•ps,-or, 
and he said "You will have to do Fomething with the Home Bank just a~ I 
did with the Banque Internationale,"-where a loan of $8,250,000 wat- made­
and Mr. Fielding is lPft without tlie rerurd of Sir Thoma:-; White, and without 
the record of Sir Henry Drayton. 

Let u" look for a minute. Po,.;sibly hl' did Romething, and that I havl' for­
gotten to mPntion it to your lord-:hip. Let u,; look for a minute and ~ee what he 
did do. Oh, yP:<. We find that hP wrote a letter on January 7, 1920. He 
addressed the following letter to .'.\fr. La"h: -

'' DEAR MR. LA~H, -The file of <·urr<•::,ponclcm·l· between yourself and 
my prcdcec,.;sor in thP above c·unnection has bren plared hefore me. It 
was done that date apparently." 

Mr. SY\IINGTO.N": That is an interpolation. 

::.\fr. LEF: "The la,-t 1·ommunication from you was dated January 25, 1919, 
in which you reported upon the po,-ition of the following accounts:" 

Imagine from ,January, 1919, the bank carrying on businesF, taking in the 
people',; money day afkr day, deposits increa::;ing, and the ~1:ini--tcr of Finance 
of this country admih in his letter " I have not done anything for pretty near 
a year." Two Mini~t.ers of Finance in that re-;pon:::ible position, and that, for a 
year, nothing had been done by either of thec:;e gentlemen watd1ing over, 
guarding, the money,; of these poor depositors. He says in the lrtter:-

" The last commun~c-at:on from you was dated January 25, 1919, in 
which you reported upon the po~ition of the following accounts:-

1. Pellatt. 
2. A. U . .Fro::-t & Co., \Vp;;tprn Lumber, etc. 
3. New Orleans. 

I ::l,all be grratly obliged if you will let me ha,·e a report indil'ating 
thr prr,:ent situation as to t:ic-r a<'l'ount:;; and what progre,-,- .w:1-, made 
during the past ye1.:r.'' 

Then ~Ir. La::,h, unfortunately, got ill, and thPn Sir HPnry writes another 
letter to his -;on, and :'.\Tr. ~Iiller La--h rt:plie-; to him in those worrb :-

" l happrm to know a good dt·al about the aeeounh to which you 
refer a-: I huve had t.o clo with them in connection with Fnliritor';: work 
for t.he bank and alHo my fatlH'r wa,; in the habit of talking the Homt· 
Bank mi;ttrr::, uvcr with me a..; tlwy arose, HO that I know what has taken 
place in the past and al:;ao know his views and the prinriples upon whirh 
he reported to your predeee 0 -;or. 

" I am telling you this as it may be that you would wish to ask me 
to look further into these arrountR and to write you about them, some­
what in the same manner as my father has previou:::ly done. This i,,i, 
of cour'le, a matter for you to decide. 

.. 
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'' I may i,ay that of my own kowlcdge the position of these three 
accounts and of the Bank generally has been much impr,oved during 1919. 

'' I shall be glad to hear from you if you desire me to do anything 
in the matter." 

And this is the answer he gets back to Mr. Miller Lash, on the 22nd J anu­
,ary, 1920. Among other things, the Hnourable Minister of Finance, Mr. 
Drayton, says:-

"Don't trouble at all about the Hom~ Bank matter. I note your 
assurance that che po:iition of the three accounts in question and of the 
bank generally has been much improved in 1919." 

And then, on the 26th of April, at page 121 of the record, Mr. White, who 
evidently is not quite satisfied, there is something bothering him in his mind 
yet; his conseicnce is not satisfied that he ha::, done his full duty to the people 
uf Canada, and he, in his kindness and consideration, still feels that something 
yet can be done, writes this letter in answer to a letter of his :mccessor: -

My DEAR HARRY,-1 have your,- of the 23rd instant enclosing report 
of the Superintendent of Insurance with reference to a transaction 
between the Home Bank and the Prudential Tru,-t Company," 

Among other things, he goes on:-
" My advice is to summon the President and General Manager of 

the Home Bank to Ottawa and discuss wit.h them not onlv this matter 
but the other loans dralt with in my correspondenee with them three or 
four years ago. The memorandum from the 8uperintendent of Insurance 
will be your justification. There is not only t!1is transaction but two 
others which should be received. The most important one is that relating 
to a timber limit in British Columbia, which was acquired by the Bank 
in connection with an imprudent loan which it had made." 

Sir Thomas, after he had left office 1,om~ time, still has the feeling that if 
he ean do anything to boL,ter up those aeeounts, or this matkr, that he will 
still do it, and he writes to his successor about this very imprudent loan. 

This was the third danger -,.ignal which 1rnd been held out to these Finanee 
Mini,-t{·rs, two during the time wnen Sir Thoma-; White was there, and this 
wa~ the first real one that had been held out to Mr. Dravton. 

And then we c·ome along, and we find that Mr. Drayton writes to the 
Pre~idrnt of the bank on the 26th of April, at page 122, and.says:-

" DEAR MR. DALY,-1 understand t.hat my predrct'3SOt t-0ok up from 
time to time, with your bank, the position "Of three of its important 
account-.-" and so on. 

And th~n, among other things, he said:--
" The matter has ju<;t come to my attention on aecount of a memoran­

dum ~ubmitt-f'rl. to me by thP Superinfrndrnt of Insurance as to the 
Prudential Trust Company. The Insurnncr Department, as y'Ou know, 
admini"tl'rs the Tru,;t and Loan Companies Act in addition to the Im,ur­
ance Act. ~ 

" I should like very much if you, or the General Manager, would 
l>ring down verified ~tatemcnt.;; as to the present position of the:-:e 
account-3..-" 

And :'.\1r. Daly, a-; Pre,-ident of thi,., Bank the~ e~me down -and di<;cussecl 
them with Sir Henry Drayton, and then Sir Henry, on the 25th of May, received 
a further letter, at pagr 124, from Mr. Miller Lash, in which he states:-

" The Bank has given me full information about the present po-sition 
and I shall be very glad if it would suit you to have it done in that 
way, to go to see you at some convenient time." 
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Thrn Sir Henry Drayton, sitting i<lly b:.u·k in hi" uffil'c diair. look:- tl1i-: thing 
all ovn and says:-

" ,vhy, this bank is in a very "plendid pn,.:ition," 

anJ he write" back thi, letter of May 26th:-

" MY DEAR ~1ILLt:R,-Thank,, for your,.: of 25th in-tant rr Home 
Bank account,;. In the meantime would you :,;erure and let me have <·er­
tified copies of the three u<'rountf' indicating the change,; which have 
occurn•d since they were la:--t :mbmittcd b:v your father a:< at :NovPmlH'r 
30th, 1918." 

f:ir Henry Drayton knew at that time nothing of the changrs in thu.-c 
arrount-: for three years. I draw your lord-:hip's attc ntion to thi::- fact, tliut lw 
had the advantage of seeing and rl'ading und digrf'ting the file of ;:iir Thuma:­,v hite. Sir Thomu::, knew :-ome real thin~ about thi;; bank, this new l\'Iini:--t,.•r 
of Finance sPem:- nenr to have known anything about it, or to h:tve (·arrd a 
whittle what became of the bank or whether t!l(> depu-.itors lo;:t all their money 
during his time of office. 

Then on page 127 he says:-

" As I ,iaid before I -:aw 1\lr. "'.\Iiller La:sh and got all the information 
I could. I don't think thne i:-- anything more than I have already given. 
It indicated an improved position,-" 

Can your lonbhip imagine the pof'ition of i::iir Henry Drayton, I am trying t{1 

bring that to your lord:--hip's mind; he was a man trained in law, one who had 
liet>n the City',; Coun:,;el and Crown Atturnry of one of the largc"t ProvitH'( ", of, 
Ontario, the man selected by an influential party of this country to run the 
finan('e" of the countr~·; yet f_or a period of three )'f.'ar~, and huYing tbe aih·an­
tage of Sir Thoma::, Whitt,',; file to read and d1ge,.:t, and knowing all the local 
condition.; that Sir Thomas. White knew, bcrnu-:c he had liw, l in the city of 
TDronto for a period of more than forty years, he knew the prople who were 
on thi::; Board of Directors, there were no local l'ircumstanre::l unknown to him, 
but what docs he do? He sit!', down and write:,; two or three letters to " ~1y 
Dear Miller." This man foO far forgets the dutic~ of his po:::,ition a-: to let thi» 
bank get clo-;er to the rol'ks, and at the time he leaves office the only thing he 
says to his rnrref'f'Or is, " You will have to do the same with the Home Bank 
as I did with the B,mque Nationale." As Sir Henry Drayton wa,;; in thi.,; box 
that day I began to wonder if the people of this country knew very much of 
f'ome of the gentlemen who at variou-- time~, and in variou-; Governrm·nt", h:tV(' 
been in office. I wonder that mPn r,;hould so far forgrt the duties of their office 
as to know nothing about a bank that was in such a eondition as thi:,; for a 
period of two and a half or three years, a bank well known among the Banker,.;' 
A--sociation to be pretty near the rocb. Xo danger ,.:ignals are sent out to tlw 
poor depositors nor to the poor men who were buying f-tork in tlw NortlnH•:-t, 
some of whom bought it within ten clays of the wreck. 

Then what do we find? \.Vhen Mr. Fielding came into office hP had not the 
advantage of perusing the fiilcf; of Sir Thomas \Vhite or Sir Henry Drayton, but 
he had or should have had thP file which wa,- left in the Finanl'c Department 
and was there for his peru:oal during all the time he was in office and right up 
to the present time. 

So we have proved a ;trinity of negatives; Sir Thomas White, Sir Henry 
Drayton and the Hon. ~Ir. Fielding. What did he do, did he do anything? Mr. 
Fielding apparently forgot that there ever was a Home Bank, he docs not ~eem 
to have written any letter, and so far as the re,port whirh has been brought down 
with the correspondence in the Houf'e :;;hows, I havo not been able to find that 
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there were any communications given to Mr. Fielding in any way, nor have any 
n>mmunications gone out from Mr. Fir!ding to the officer:; of this defunct hank. 
I rharge thPse three gentiemen with bring parties to the wreck of this institution. 
I charge thr:::e gentlemen together that they by their united action with tlH, 
Dire< tor:- and Managrrs, "TP<·ked this bank and lo,;t our money. 

What could have been done? I should think that in two years of office the 
Hon. Mini-:ter of Finance would at least have written to find out the condition 
of this matter. If he was too prrsscd with busine::as he at lea<;t might have sent 
hi., deputy, luwing reg:ud t-0 the fact that all the time there was the old 
< umplaint in the Finance Department of Mr. Fi-.her and Mr. Crerar. But ·we 
cannot find in the file:; anyt'.1ing at all, so we have to leave it. A man by hi::a 
inartion can bf' guilty of negliµ;crn·e ju,-t a':l well a:; by his action. -Sir Thomas 
·whitr was very active, he wrotr a lot of letters, gave it great consideration; ~ir 
Henry Drayton did nothinl!, and ;\fr_ Fielding did les,::. And so the ship plunged 
on and on the 23rd of A.ugu-:t, 1923, smashed oq the rocks, ~ixty thousand people 
lost thPir money, and :-ome two thousand odd people are now saddled with double 
liability. Are these Finance Ministers coming back to give us our money by 
rea,;on of their negligence? I do not see any of them, I have not received any 
cheques. That is the :-ituation prr~cnted to your lordship; If my lrarned 
leader's idea is eorrert, and I submit it is, there are two horn-s to this dilemma. 
My lrarned leader Raid that during the force and stress of war work Sir Thomas 
White did a con1-iderable amount of good work, I quite admit that he did. Sir 
Henry Draytoh did not l1ing that could be considered ns fulfilling the duties 
required of his high position, and as for Mr. Fickling,-·why it is rather a joke 
to think that a gentlrman shall be placed in that po:-ition, with only sixtren or 
righteen banks in, this country to look after, and this bank be allowed to drift 
,-tradily and more surely all the time on to the,;e shoals and roek:o until the 
;-ma;:h on the 23rd O\ AuguRt last. 

:Now I think it 1s only fair to the Honourable Minister of Finance to ~ay 
that when the Honourable Prime Mini;;tcr of thi~ rountry was in the witness box 
he stated that the Honourable ~1inister of Finance took exception to what his 
predecessor had said in regard to his attention having been drawn to the Home 
Bank. But for the purpose of .this investigation that makes no difference. I do 
not care whether it was drawn to his attention or not, I am not going to quarrel 
with Sir Henry Drayton or Mr. Fielding upon those matters. The result remains 
that we have lost our money, and it does not make any diffcrenre to me whether 
it is by the negligence of Sir Thomas White or of Sir Hrnry Drayton or of the 
Honourable Mr. Fielding, or the combined negligence of them all, the poor 
depositor has had in many cases his life's savings wiped out. 

Thi1:, bank was established in 1854 as the Toronto Savings Bank, and it 
continued taking the people',: :;,avings until at the end about sixty thorn,and 
people had about $18,000,000 of deposit-, there, an average of say $300 each, 
the hard earned savings of those poor people. We have in the town of Fernie 
a las::; of about $782,000 from the poor miners mostly, who eould not work any 
more. Tho,;e poor men who.oe usefulness in the mine:-: had passed had been 
saving for their old age, and suddenly all their saving,: were blotted out in the 
twinkling of an eye by the men who should have carefully guarded those savings. 
Who should havr guarded them? Tbe management looted the bank, I think 
your lordship will have to my that the Masons looted this bank, they have 
pa,:sed to the hereafter and I will not 1,;ay more. But who helped them to do 
it? I say that men who are placed in -,uch re~pon,,ible positions in the Gov­
ernment of this country as to be made Mini~ters of Finance should have guarded 
carefully the ::;avings of those poor miners, of the wa,;hwoman, the charwoman 
and the other people whose whole life's savings have been blotted out. The 
wrecks that have come to my own attention in thi,, matter are most pitiable, 
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many peopk are now in P!Pt·mo:-ynary irn:titution'- by rt>a,on of this bank 
failun·. A, one who hnc; ~utl"Prrd by rrn"on of thi-, L;ilure I am asking this 
GovPrnnwnt for ::ometliing that in my opinion I am entitlrd to get. \Vhy?_ 
I am Pntitlrd to get it hy n·a:-un of the negligrnce of it, offirers. I am coming 
to the prople of Canvda seeking what in common, ordinary derrnt juatice I am 
entitled to, namely tLat the men who are put in publi:,; offiec ,:hall at lea,t do 
their duty by the p<'ople of this country. Have I rC'a::<on-to expet·t less? Gov­
ernment;; are e1 1mpot<cd of men, men :.ire 1rnm:m, Sir Thoma, \Yhite at lca-,t 
trird to do hi,; duty, I am afraid I c'.l.nnot say ail much fur the other two 
occupant-, of that office. Sir Thom3q tried to steer tlie ::ihip off thE•se shoals, 

'but did the other gentlemen do ~o? I le.we it for your lonh-hip to :-ay, in 
answering f.hc;:;e que"ti0n, tl.at ha\'c been submitt.d in our petition, whether 
we luve brought sufficient evideme from which a rea- ,ma hit mttn rould finrl 
that in 1915, 1916 and 1918 thing-; were brought to tL1, att.rntion of the ~Iini-;ter 
of Finance which m1der ordinary circum,-,t:rneef', having regard to the ~ur-

. rounding condition-, that the war wa-: on, L,rg;e loan-; were being floated, mt·n 
were being overworkrtl and so on, have we proved sufficiently that under tho--e 
extruorrlinary circumstances the int!:'rt t of the depositor-; in this bank wne 
giwrclt·d 3.-=; earefully a:,; they ~hould have brrn? In putting thi-- petition in I 
re,-,uved my right to put in :,.uffiei<·nt and furthr evi,fonel' tha'. I might find, 
and what do we find? We find that this banlt bh not bcrn wrerkerl wholly by 
the action of t!1e Dirertor:-, not wholly by rt-'a,rm pf the in,1f'tion of :,ir Thomas 
\Yhite, but it has been wrrf'kcd by rea•,on of tht' inaction of :-<ir Henry Drayton 
and tl1c Honourable Mr . .f 1L•ldin1;. If my d1, luctinn" are l nrn·d, and I think 
they arr, thL~e three gLmtldmn are partially n:--po11--ible for this wrerk. 

Now up to thi-i mom1·nt I have not touched upon the action:; of oue of the 
We,;:tern DirPrtors, the Honour:1blc )fr. Crerar. ~lr. Crerar ramc into the 
Union Govnnment I btlieve ai,out the beginning of 1919. I 1lr~irt' to giw him 
very grrat credit fur the drrrnt and honourable way in which he gave his 
eY'.denc·c. He i-; a man in whum I have a gnat drnl of ronfidenrr, in "·at.ching 
the way he gave his evidence. Mr. Crerar is head of the l'niterl Grain Gruwrrs, 
and naturally desiring rnme assistance for hi,; cnmpany, about 1908 he goc- out 
to -ell :;tock of this bank. To ,;how his r, •nfidrncc in the bank his company 11uy,-; 
1,000 share;; of stoc~c at the top notch price, $133.33, I do nnt think anyone ever 
paid a higher price. He p:ocs along doing bu<n!'-4 with tl1is bank anrl in the 
ordinary rourse of business in1 :u<•c,; his friend~ to buy it, :;tock, tn , h, ,w hi,; 
ronfi< lenr1-- ;1r bougl,t 66 .--lrnn•,; Lim~df. He find~ th1.:: tlwre i,; n little lt·,,~,: in 
the ship in 1915, and ai- a careful navigator of the rnitcd Grain Grower­
Company he dr,irc., to plug that pinhok, f'•J he makes cerL,in repre~,•ntu• ion" tu 
the management. X,1 attention was puid by Gern•ral 1lason, he i,- only a 
Western Dirrctor, only supposed to look aftn WC'Htcrn mutters, though he had 
all the responsibility pert:.tining tc, the position of Din·etor of a bank. ~lessrs. 
Crerar and Pcr::,-,e and Kennedy felt that tl1ing,- were not going right, and it 
finally rulminated in. their going to th£'ir roun~el Mr. Fisher and Mr. Fi:;:her 
writing to the Minit:ter of Finance. I am not going tc, dwell upon the action:; 
of Mr. Crerar, up to a certain period he die! noble service for the depositors and 
shareholders of this bank. \Vben he went into tl1 is Government I shouid have 
thought, having regard to the condition in which he left the bank, that he would 
have said to these .poor farmers of the west "Our company has· sold it.s stock-" 

~Ir. SYMINGTON: It had not sold its stock then. 

Mr. LEE: -"I haYe been requested tc, go intc, a pool at the instance of 
the President to hold the stcJck up tc, 80, I did not Sl'P fit, nor did our company 
see fit to go into that. I am going to see that nobody else buys stock in this 
irn;titution, that this institution is not going to gull anybody else, our company 
has taken a loss of $33,000, we have sold our thousand shares of stock and ceased 
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d11ing businet:-s with this bank, you farmer::; who l.ttvc already bought it are not 
going to be fooled by buying more, those who havr not bought are not going 
to be fooled by any representation that we are still ,fockholders. My fellow 
directors, like my.,elf, have rrsigned, I am still your Prr,-1dPnt and a,; rn,·h it is 
my duty to emblazon acros:i the prairies the fact that I am not a Director of this 
bank, that I have sold my stol'k and the company of which you are member:; 
has sold its stock. Xow gentlemen, you know as much a-, I do." I blame Mr. 
Crerar only in respect of what he did not do. 

But what did they do? They sold their thousand ,-hare~ of stork ::it 
~HOO, I a;.;kl,rl. ::\1r. Crerar one question, if when that stork was t;Old to Mr . 
Daly there 'were any limitations put upori wliere the stork was to be ref'old, 
and he mid no. It was peddled out to the:-e very farmers who were member;, 
of this Grain Company- • 

Mr. SYl\JI~GTON: There ;s no evidcme of it. 

Mr. LEE: Tht;re is no evidenee here, but unfortunately I know too well 
that this bank sold its stock right up to within sewn tb~·:- before it failed and 
much of it wa:- sold in the Prairi<' Provinru and Briti--11 Columbia, long 
di,tances away from tlw~e gentlemen "ho were looting the bank. I say " loot­
ing", I do not want the v. ord to be mi,appliui, I use it in t 11c f'ense of not 
p'lying attention t,1 their duties as offirpr,.; and Directors of tliis bank. Far 
be it from me that anything which I might addre:o,:; to your lordship should 
lw taken a~ wi~hing to di,-rrfdit any of t!1c gt•ntlrmm who are on trial or under 
indictmPnt. Tl1c law will deal with tho::;e gentlemen in its proper tirnP. But 
this I can ;.::iy, our money is gone, hundred.,; of poor women are in the ho;.;pital::; 
to-day or suffrring the pangs of ,::brvation, from one branch in the City of 
Toronto, sixteen haYc already had to be :;rnt to the Hou,.t· of ProvidencP by 
rPa:!un of the failure of this bank. It j,- romm0n 1mowl£ 1gc tlnt deaths haw·. 
o,·r·urred, one of thrm rig:1t in my very presence at a d1·po-,itor5' mertinp;. 
And w1,y? Bc 0 au,:c the 1mn who should have done their duty hone-,tly, fairly, 
fc;ir'.e;;:sly, diq not do it. It matters not to me or to t~e dcpo,:itors if1 these 
grnt'.cmen :ctolc not only all the m iney of the bank but took away the ~u,y of 
the outc,ide door, but it docs matocr to us that we were led to believe tlut t'w 
bank'ng sy,;tem of Canada wa;, the finc,,t in the world. vVe plaC'c our drpos1t.:i 
in thrse banh,;, are doing rn :;:till, and y,·hat i::ernrity have "e got? l'i'othing. 
The system is wrong, the -<y-;tt:m of the Finance Dcpartm£•nt which we are 
n+tacking as depositors. ·we are paying large rnm-i of money a:, the people of 
this country to maintain that Departme'nt. You would have thougi1t, the war 
being on or the after-war effrcts --rill existing, thnt there would have been 
sompone at le :t-,t "ould have given attention to thi-; matter. No :\l'nistcr is 
more than human. vVhat do we employ as a:ssistant, a Deputy Mini:;:tPr for? 
I should have thought that a Deputy was employed to draw to the attention 
of hi:;: ::\Iini,;tcr ju,.:t "uch instance'>- as this bank d'fords. We will have to have 
a cleaning up in the Finance Department of this co~ntry, the people are 
demanding it, the dt>po-,itors in this );lank wi:J insist upon it, and if I r3n lend 
any little aid to that demand I shall certainly give it because we are determined 
that come weal or woe we are not going to have a lot of other people flimflammed 
in the manner that the depositors of tliis baµk have been. 

We have presented our petition to the Governor-General-in-Council believ­
ing that we will get justice, we have been sent to you the fountain of justice, and 
having produced the ma:;s of evidence which we have produced, and I do not 
think my learnea friends even if they so desired could controvert it, we feel that 
we have furnished the answer to these questions that have been referred to you, 
and that you, sir, will have to say that your answers are in favour of the 
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rlepo,;itor:-: and your re!'ommrndution to the Govcrnmrnt of thi:- country mu8t 

be tu reimbur::-e u,,, beC'aU~e the Government of tl,i:- country through the 

trinity of Finance Mini,:trrs by their inaction, helped the Director:' of thi,-, 

kmk to V.TP!'k the bank and lo,P our funds. I thank your lt,rd:-11ip. 

ARGU::\IE~T BY MR. BROWNI~G, KC. 

::\Ir. Commi:--iuner, you were good enough at the out~et of the arg;umt·nt 

to ~bte to l·ounf'el that thev woul<l be allowed the utmm-t latitude in the 

pre"l'nbtion pf their c:i,e. i ft:el that my ns:-0riat~ have dealt very fully 

with the fact-. as outlinPd in the "petition, and on the eviden('l' a, brought 

lwfuw you they have argued ,-trrnuously, and in my opinion mu~t effectively 

on behalf of the petitioner's claim. :::o there is rl-ally very little fur me to 

:-ay. However I wi;:;h to deal more particularly with question,.: four and five 

~ubmittrd to you, tho,-r quP,-tions being:-

" 4. What cffut would an audit undrr section 56A of the B:1nk 

Act, if made in 1915, 1916 and 1918, !:ave had upnn tlie rondµct of the 

affairs of the :;aid bank upon the' po--ition of the pre;;rnt depo,;itor:'? 

5. What v. a:-: the finanrial condition of the' "aid Home Bank of 

Canada in the years 1915, 1916 and 1918 re><pPdivrly, and what :-frps, 

if any, could han been taken by tl,r Govermnl'nt to save the ,-.itl.\ation?" 

I shall dC'al with those, having due rq;ard to the importanrr of the c·a,f• 

and the fact th:it we are here, not ;::O much to plead with you or to argue with 

you, a:; to a,~i,-t you in grtting at the fart,; ;,0 that your report may be in 

aerordance with those facts. In de~11ing with tLo;:e quc~tions, if I seem to 

overlap or repeat, I will certainly do my bc-1t to avoid troubling you unnl'('l ,i­

sarily or taking.up the time of yourself and the coun:;cl for the Governmrnt. 

It might ~erm to the public that we are burdening the Court and taking 

up time unnecc..,~arily, becau:,e thr questions in them::<clve'-, are not such that 

any great effort i,-; nPcessary to enable one to discover the arn,wer to them, but 

yet t hr result., following upon the answers to those questions are 1,,0 important, 

and so many people are affected not only b¥ the findings you may make but 

the a('tion that may later be takrn by ParliamC'nt following your report, that 

I have no scruples in taking such time as may be necessary, though I promise 

t-0 deal with the matter as shortly and dearly as po~-1ible. 

I shall probably not have a further opportunity of appearing before this 

Commission as coun,:el, so I wii,h on behalf of my as:,ociates and my,.,elf to 

thank you for the courtPsy you have di-.played, for your fairne:-~ and ,rorn,id­

eration to ourselve,;; at all time:;; and while we have not asked for or ex,pectcd 

any favours from coumel for the Government, knowing their reputation and 

high standing as counsel we felt that we would at lea-:t get the courtesy which 

we have got. I am plraF-ed to say we have recein~d even more courtesy than 

we felt we were entitled to, and while they have not granted us any favours 

or a<;sisted us in any way, it not being their provinee to do so, they have co­

operated with us in our desire to bring before you a-: Commi,-sioner the facts 

a,; they relate to this mo,-t unfortunate matter, the dealing,-, of the Home Bank 

as 9etween the Directors and the depositors, the conduct of the bank as between 

the Direct-Ors_ and the Government itself, and any other matters pertinent to 

the prayer of the petitionC'rs and the questions a,:ked. So while it may not be 

necessary to thank them, we do appreciak very murh their a,-;i;:tanre. And 

we in turn have trif'cl honestly and earnestly to bring ou.t the farts so that 

no one may bP. misled, so that the truth the whole truth and nothing but the 

truth should be before you, in order that the public and Parliament may know 

just what the facts of the case were. 

.. 

, 

• 
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With your permission, ::\Ir. Commi~,,ionrr, I will somewhat reverse the 
order of the que::;tions. It srems to me the la::,t que:,tion should be dealt with 
fir,.:t, so I will deal with the financi:;tl condition of the Home Bank in 1916 and 
1918, leaving out any reference t-0 1915 because the position then was prac­
tically the same as in 1916; and then with what step:; could have been taken 
to save the situation, those bring the words used in the la'>t question; and 
third, what effect would an audit under srr.tion 56A, if- made in 1915, 1916 an:l 
1918, have had upon the conduct -0f the affairs of the bank. 

As has been brought out in the evidence submitted, there can be no doubt 
that prior to May 1916, there were many di.,,quieting eonditions disclosed in 
the documents submitted by Mr. Fishrr to the Minister of Finance on January 
22nd, 1916. It was shown that the Banque Internationale had been bought 
with the stock of the Home Bank, the capital of the bank had practically been 
redmed or impaired by some 2,622 shares, those shares having been juggled 
between Mr. Barnard and the Home Bank and the Banque Internationale, a 
loan of $400,000 having been made. The Frost matter had been brought to 
the attention of the Government and while I do not think that anything was 
shown which would have led the Government to imagine that that transaction 
was rather a purcha.,;e than a loan, it doe,; appear from the evidence that the 
Directors or the Manager, somrone at least in the bank, was not lending that 
money to Mr. Frost but was really buying the limits for speculative purposes. 
Mr. F,dwards. show-, that the notes given by Frost were not attended to, they 
were left to run on past the time of maturity, in one case until the note was 
nearly barred by the Statute of Limitations, no attention was paid to the 
collection of interest, everything on the records shows that the bank considered 
it~rlf, the owner of those limits rather than a lender of money to Mr. Frost. 
The peculiar circum:-tances in connection with the loan were disclosed to the 
Government in the documents. You will rrcollect that the bank had certain 
Chicago and Milwaukee bonds which at the time of Mr. Frost's request for the 
loan wne of no Yalue, thr Chicago & Milwaukee having gone into a Receiver­
ship. But Mr. Frost in his dPsire to get the limits, or obtain a loan from the 
bank, r-aid to the bank, "I will take over those bonds from you at 90." Noth­
ing appears on the records to show that he knew they were worthless, but the 
faet wa::. common knowledge at the time, and he and the bank must have known 
well that in sPlling the bonds to him at 90 the bank was profiting and he was 
losing. Or that would have been the ca'-e if any money had been actually 
paid, but it was simply a book-keeping entry. 11:r. Frm:t obtained from the 
bank a loan of approximately $750,000, again--t that loan wa,- charged the 
value of the bonds at 90, it does not help the bank one way or the other except 
as the receipt of the purcha,,r price will show on their books as an asset. All 
this was in some measure disclo~Pd or a1luded to in the correspondence rnb­
mittrd bv Mr. Fi,-her to the Minister in 1916. 

The New Orleans situation which has been dwelt on at great length wa!'l 
also referred to, sufficiently at least to have put someone in the Pepartment 
of Finance on enquiry. It w.as shown that they had loaned to someo_ne some 
hundreds of thousands of dollars and that the security for the loan had vanished 
on May 31, 1916, the equity having been foreclosed, and the bank at that time 
had actually lost all the money ad,,vanced on the security of the New Orleans 
Railway, except possibly for a claim against the Prudential Trust Company for 
some $500,000 which claim may have been of some legal effect but its value was 
very much in doubt and it has never been enforced or attempted to be enforced 
from that time until the present. 

Then the attention of the Department was also called to the real estate sub­
division loans made to Sir Henry Pellatt, said by the Auditor to be of a very 
&;quieting nature. ~fr. Adair's inspection report wa~ ma~e known to the 
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Minister, showing that of $2,200,000 of call loans only about $25,000 was properly 
margined, and the greater proportion of those call loans represented loans to 
Sir Henry Pellatt or his companies on real e~tate in Toronto or on stocks and 
bonds of companies ,promoted by him. 

All these matters were disclosed, and there was a further mutter which 
I am unable to find was disclosed, it was fairly large, yet not very large in com­
parison with the other actounts; in 1916 there wa::, an outstanding account of 
8116,000 to the King Shoe Company, which company at that time was insolvent 
and known to the Manager of the bank to be ::io. I do not say that this was 
brought to the attention of the Minister or referred to in the documents sub­
mitted by Mr. Fi-,her. But all the other larger accounts, together with the fact 
that dividends had been paid for some ye3,rs, not out of profits but out of the 
depositors' money, as shown in the letter from the Minister first to Mr. Lash, 
in which he asks that the practice be discontinued, and the letter from Mr. 
Lash to the Minister assuring him that the practice will not continue were with­
in his knowledge. It is evident from that that the Minister and the Department 
knew well that dividends were being improperly paid, that they could only be 
paid out of the money of the depositors, and that intnest was being capitalized 
and added to overdue accounts and that this had been done for a number of 

' . 
years. 

All these facts were outlined sufficiently to place the Minister on enquiry 
and cau:-:e him to wonder what was behind all this, what is the real trouble, 
is there any safafactory explanation: if so I must gPt it. All this was before 
the Minister as early as January, 1916, and continued to be before him for the 
months following. 

I do not know how your lordship's mind is constituted, but most of us have 
had experience from time to time of reading over important documPnt:; and 
imagining that we grasp the contents of those doruments, but finding eometime 
aftPrwarrl that in the burden of the hour and the pressure of other work we have 
really failed to grasp their purport, we read them by the eye but they did not 
pem•trate the brain. My explanation is, and it $Cem,,, to mo a rea'-onable (lne 
under the circumstance::;, that while Sir Thomas was as my learned a~sociate 
has said, giving himself night and day to the affairs of the country he rrally 
wu,; not able to give to this matter the consideration it dec;erved. So it is to 
some extent rather a reflection upon Government,; t.hat when a big man is called 
upon to serve his country at surh a time of crisis, adequate a;,-si~tanre is not 
given him. It mav be that Sir Thomas was at fault, as many big men are at 
fault, in not relegating to his deputy or to other as::;istants the details of the 
dffice, leaving hi.;; mind free for matters of general policy, it may even be \hat 
he had not such a man to whom he could delegate sul·h matters of drtail, it. may 
he the Government could not find a big man to assist him in the work; how­
ever that may be. as my learned leader has f.aid and as has been repcate.d time 
and time again, Sir ThomaF- White, big man as he is, was only a man; he had 
his limitation..;; he could only do what one man could do within a given time. 
Admitting that he did all that he could; admitting_ that he gave of his vtry 
best; yet?' he rnuld juc;t give so much and no more; and 100, having read those 
documentc; myself, being myself only an ordjnary man and perhaps not in a 
position to undPrst,and the strength and weaknec;s of the biJ.!ger men of thr. day, 
yet it 10ePms to me I can sympathize with the position that Sir Thomas White 
wa::1 in at that time, and appreciate the fact that alhough he had all thr"e 
documents before him and although he seemed to under~tand them, he really 
did not gr~"P the seriomne,9 of them or of their contents, and if I have one 
criticism -more than another to make of Sir Thomas White, it is this: that he 
finds it. difficult if not impossible to place himself in the position he was in, in 
1916. He dot, not appreciate his limitations at that timr. He says: I worked 
so many hours a day; I wa::; be.,ieged with telephone calls after I got home; I 
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was pressed by night and by day; if Sir Thomas could only go a little further 
than that and jw,t realize how difficult it must have been for him at that time 
to carry on; he says Mr. McLaughlin would not have been alive today if he 
had had to do what he did. 

Mr. McLAUGHLIN: And yet, I am pretty tough. 
:y{r. BnowNING: Well, I don't know whether you are to be congratulated 

or not. 
If he could only go back, with all hi11 powers, and place himself in the position 

today that he was then, it seems to me that he would be forced to admit: "I did 
not give those documents the consideration that I would ordinarily have given 
them, the consideration that was their due." But it was at a time when such 
paramount interests as those of the neceP-;;ity of saving our country-it did not 
matter much to the depositors of the Home Bank, what became of the bank, 
if the Germans had won the war; we would have lost everything-and one 
can readily imagine that the matter of 60,000 depositors or 10 or 15 millions 
of dollars would be small in comparison and would be. placed in the back of 
Sir Thoma-i White's head, without any intent on his part to place it there, and 
without perhaps any distinct rerolkction on his part to-day that he did relegate 
it to the barkground of his mind or memory. But I do submit and I urge that 
the explanation is the only reasonable one of the circumstances, that Sir Thomas 
did not really grasp the contents of those documents or the seriousness of the 
cam presented. 

Further, as to the artual conditions in 1916; I have dealt with the large 
account:;; and shown how they were brought to the attention of the Minister 
and how they indicated a condition of affairs which to say the least, in the 
words of the auditor, was embarrassing and disquieting, that is what Mr. 
Clarkson says, and there can be no question about the value of Mr. Clarkson's 
opinion. No particular evidence was given before you as to his standing in 
the community; but it is public knowledge that he is one of the outstanding 
financial men in the Dominion of Canada; he is rerognized as such and he 
has been appointed by the Court one of the liquidator:, of this bank. He says• 
that in 1916 a permal of the documents would have plared an auditor in a· 
very embarrassing position; he would at once have seen that the condition was 
serious; he would have felt it his duty to report at once to the Directors that 
many of the loans were not bankable loans, the serurity was not good, and that 
the bank was paying dividends out of moneys which they were not en tit led to 
u-,e in payment of dividends, and that generally speaking something should 
be done to remeuy what someone, I am not sure whether it was Mr. Clarkson 
or Mr. E,lwards, has termed a very vicious practice. Mr. EdY1ards agrees 
entirely with Mr. Clarkson and says that a very superficial examination, not 
extending over many days, perhaps a week in all, would have enabled anyone 
by an examination of the records at head office in 1916 to have known that 
something was seriou:,ly wrong with the bank, and that act.ion should be taken 
if the bank's affairs were ever to be made right for the depositors, that some­
thing should be done to remedy the situation either by a change in the manage­
ment or by the adoption of new prartires and principles of administration. 
Mr. Edwards further ·,mys on page 513 that in May 1916 the bank had lost some 
$3,700,000. That is merely an estimate of course berau,;;e no one can say 
exactly what, the lo~,; would be. The timber limits might possibly be worth 
a good deal more than the accumulated prinripal and intrre~t. The New 
Orleans Railway was gone. The shares in the Banque Internationale had 
gonP. And in fairness to l\Ir. Edward~-who is also rErognized as one of the 
leading acrount::mts of the Dominion and is one of the Government's con~ 
fidential advisN~, he come,; here in that caparity to as~i,;t you in getting at 
the facts of the ca~e and laying before you the real circumstances m 
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ronncrtion therPwith-he .says thnt the bank had a ,:hurt:ige or was behinr! ~ome 
$3,700,000, against which at that time, a,; E'hown by thr recor<l,, the paid-up 
capital amountPd to $1,946,639, and tl,e resnn tu $300,000. ~o that le:t\'ing 
his e:-:timate as bejng only equal to the paid-up rapital and re-:erve, ;.;omr 
~2,200,000, there i . ..: no doubt that in the end of May, 1916, the b:mk had no 
surplu,;; whether it was in-:olnnt or not it had no ;-;urplUti "ith whil"l1 to carry 
on l,u,-,inc~s. Its capital had p:onc. Its re:ierve !:ad p;une. It haJ nothing 
with which to rurry on but its name, •go0d or bad, the reliailC'P of the pcuplt' 
throughout the l'0untry on the fal't, tbt it was a bank chartered by tlw 
Dominion of Canada, and further than that, it.-: po"ition wa,; worse than at 
the time ·when it ;-;t:.irted, berau:c:e it had lost the puid-up capital of it:-; H_hare­
holders, it had lost the rr~nve whieh had been ~et a-ide for l'Ontingen<'ic ~, and 
by all the tc~t-- laid down by Mr. Edwards the bank at that time was prur­
tically insolvrnt. He ha::; .-:tated two h•:-t.-:: first, the ability tu pay liabilitii>:-: 
out of readily realizable af:-rt.s. And next, the earning rapar·ity of the bank, 

which in time would enable it to rarry on and redeem it:aelf from the prr:-:rnt 
situati,,n in which it found it:-:df. But the b:.rnk had no earning capacity at 
that time. For years it had not been earning money. It had bern carril·d 
on at a los;:;. The dividends were being paid out of the money whi<"h wa~ 
rerrived from day to day from depo:-:itors, and the money whid1 had lwen 
paid in by the shareholders being usPd in connection with the operntions of 
the bank. In 1917 the profit, of the bank, according to the annual statement, 
were $217,000. Mr. Edwards say~ that instPad of the bank having made a 
profit in that year of $217,000 it maul' an actual loss of $6,000. The dividc,nrb 
paid in that year were 897,327.06, so that the bank carried on at a Io~,- in that 
year, of ,:ome $103,000. In 1918 we have the fact that tlw bank followed a 
certain course-I will qualify it later on--the bank, realizing that it wa,; 
carrying on at a loss, making payment-, of dividend" out of money.~ of the 
depo:5itors and not out of money,- ac-tually earned, derided undl'r Mr. Han,·y ·:-: 

direction, he being its de fudo Prc,:ident, to embark on l'erbin r,;pl·rulatiYc 
enterprises, whirh were not banking enterpri::,etl in any sen,-.e uf the word 
No bank, the auditor say~-and the report of the bank is al} admi~:-:ion to 
that effe<·t-:;hould have indulged in sul'h ent.Prprisc;, a~ were indulged in in the 
vear 1918. A private, citizen has a right to speculate with his own money 
if he wishes, even to the extent of disregarding the welfare of hi::; wife and •'l 

children, and they may have to ~uffer; the out:!irle public cannot rnmpluin; 
it is none of their bu::;ine~-,; but here is a bank in 1918 dealing with tru;;t funds 
and speculating with them in a most riotous way. Fortunately for them in 
that year-and unfortunately for the precedent establi,;hcd-they made enough 
money so that the profits for that year amounted to 5228,000 a,·cording to their 
showing. The actual profit however was only $138,000, and the dividPnds paid 
were $97,362.40, ,-o that in that year they earned-if onr may look upon these 
,-perulative profits as earning,;-they made :,;ome $41,000, as against a lu,;,; of 
$103,000 in 1917. And of course we are not forgrtting that we are not taking 
int.a account all the los'-PR of the years previously to 1917, which as Mr. 
Edwards said, at the end of 1916 amounted to ~3, 700,000. The question does 

not deal directly with the growing condition of the bank from 1916 to 1923, but 

as the Commi-3sion directed to your lordship, refers perhap::; impliedly to t!tat 
period, perhaps you will pardon my referring to the condition as it continued to 
be from 1916 to 1923. Mr. Clark::;on says it was steadily growing worse. He 

states that losses were made on account of new advance,; amounting to Rome 

$4,500,000. That the losses during that period in all amounted to $7,500,000, 

and Mr. Edwards agreed with hi,rh in that re:-pert. From year to year, with 

the exception po'lsibly of 1918 and 1919, but from 1916 to 1923, the condition 
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of the bank was steadily growing wor~e, until at the end of 1923 it findi:: it~rlf 
according to Mr. Clarbon, with a clefi<-it of nine to ten million dollan; 
$7,500,000 of which had been lo~t during the pcrir•d 1916 to 1923; and according 
to Mr. Edwards, a :,1hortagr during that prriod of $7,700,000. I have had tllr 
advantage of seeing Mr. Calvert's :-tatement, Exhibit 171, and Mr. Clarkson',; 
statement, Fxhibit 131, which appears at page 251; and correcting one with 
the other, brcause Mr. Calvert's statement seem'> to be later than ).fr. Clark­
son's and corred,-; po,-sibly the total amount owing to the depo1-itor~ at the 
end of 1923-the ai-:;ets as shown by tho:;e statement::;, outside of af''lets 
against whieh advances were made, amounted to $6,618.402. Those were 
made up of realizable a~~pt-, ~5,743,051. Nominal a,.:set-, in bank parlanre 
$827,813. Mortgagr~ Lrld $50,000. Real eP-tate other than premi-,e,; $57,512. 
Fixture:- and Furniture a nominal value of $40,000. In all 56,618,402. From 
that i;; to be dedurtrd the preferred claims of $2,095,426 leaving a balance of 
$3,622,976. To that is to bc added the as,et:3 on which advanees were made, 
the value of which it is impo:,~ible to e,-;timate, but which are placed by ).fr. 
ClarkRon, for the purpose of the :-tatPmPnt at any rate, at a value equal to 
the amount owing on them, a total of $9,229,997. Making altogether $12,852,973 
of at':3ets to pay gmeial daim~. Against liabilitie,-; of $16,695,722. Now a very 
superficial examination of the li,-;t of a~sets shows that it is impo 0 ,ible to place 
any valuation on them. Your lordship know:3 what value assrts have in 
cases of a:,,signment or liquiclat;on. It may be that those timber limit:-, which 
at one time were thought by ).Ir_ Frost to be ;-o valuable, may again rise to 
his ~timate of what they are worth. Sir Thomas doe::; not go quite that far, 
but he and' Mr. Clarkson say . that of 25 cruiser,; going over tho~e limits no 
two men will agree as to the value. It is impossible to tell. One can under­
stand how near it is, knowing that they ;;tnke an average ovrr :,ay 100 acres 
of ground, they e:-timate how many feet there are in that acreage and then 
from that make thrir eakulation of the whole number of feet in the limit. 
They never agree. Mr. Clarhon i:- ,·lear on that point and Sir Thomas agree~ 
with him. So that it is impos~ible for anyone, no mutter how desirous he 
might be of saying what a timber limit wa-; worth,-that is a large timber 
limit comprising hundreds of thousands of acres,-to ;;ay what the value would 
be. But Mr. Clarkson has gone carefully over the situation and no man il3 
more competent th:m he, and he e,timales the deficit to be $9,000,000. That 
would leave betwern 40 and 45 cents available to creditors. He e:-timates 40 
cents as possibly payable to creditors; and 25 cents having been paid. by 
borrowing from the banks, t'lere would be fifteen cents more payable over a 
period of two or three years. Just how far he makes an estimate of the cost 
of liquidation or of matters incidental to that, ::-ueh as litigation, I do not 
know; but his estimate at any rate is that perhaps 40 cents would ultimately 
be payable to the creditors. Mr. Edwards e~timates a shortage of $7,700,000. 
Perhaps a little les;:: than l\ir. Cbrkson. But Mr. Edwards is not clear 
whether in that $7,700,000 is includrd the one million of We::,tern loan losses 
or the costs of liquidation. In looking over the Exhibit 170, page 495-I just 
wish to bring it to your attention, a;; doubtless it has already been, in order 
that the difficulties that are apparent on a perusal of it may· be H'Pn, and 
perhaps some solution afforded, I must confess that I am unable to under­
stand it. The statement shows that in 1916 the asets of the bMk nmountcd to 
$21,030,353. The liabilitic>s to ~18, 722,963. The deposits to $10,028,000. In 
1918 the a,:::et~ amounted to $28,270,766. The liabilit.ic,; to $25,842,000 and 
the deposit;; to $14,988,422. Your lordsl1ip will remember that my lcurned­
friend Mr. Symin!;ton explained the sudden increasr in liabilitie,- in that year 
as due to the fact that the bank 1rncl borrowed heavily from the Department 
of Finance under the :Finance Act; and that would doubtles,: explain the 



• 

706 ROYAL ,COMMISSION 

inrrrase in a1-sets and the rorrc,;ponJing inrrC'a!;e in liabilities, ber.ause what­
ever they had on hand they would have to pay for, unle,-:a- repre1-ented by an 
·increa1-e in profit. At :my rate betwec·n 1916 and 1918, while their liabilitie:o 
had inr.re:u,~d by $7,000,000, their deposits had only increased by $4,900,000. 
Going from 1918 to 1923, the a,;sctc;; in 1923 amount to $27,434,709. One 
million less than in 1918. The liabilitie:o are $24.889,049. One million 
lr,;s than in 1918. While the depo,-its have increa,,ed from $14,988,422 
to $19,295,735. An increa-;e in the deposits of nearly $5,000,000 and a decrease 
in the a,;~ets of nearly $1,000,000. Whrre the d(,po,:itors' money has gone in 
the interval, Mr. Clarkson and Mr. Edward,, have endeavoured to explain, 
and somrone will h.we to definitely find. I do not need to argue with your 
lord,-hip as to whethrr or not thc;;e facts could have been readily a:;1·.ertainrd 

a by any one. The Mini:;ter of Finance, or any one in tl~e Govrrnment, important 
as the mattrr was, could have found out as to the rorrednes- of t]w t-tatcment;­
m~de, by putting an aeeountant sueh a-, l\Ir. Edwards, or evrn a Ir,-,- skilled 
aecountant, on tl1e job. Tlw Directors themselves rould have found out if 
they wished to. Whether they knew or not I do not pretend to my. If they 
did know, they certainly did not disclo::ie it to ~Ir. La,-h. They do not appear 
to have <lisdosed to Mr. Lash their real knowledge. It may be that Mr. 

• ~Iason, the late General Manager, wa::; the only one who rt·ally did know 
of the situation. The others ju~t implicitly followrd him and n·fa·d on bm 
and ,.;hut their eyes to what was going on, feeling 'that he was rqual to the 
situation, although from the rorre,-pondenre between the "\Y e:;tc-rn and the 
Ea:;tcrn Director:-, rertainly the Ea:-tern DirP1-tors should have known what 
the opinion of the WE-stern Dirrctor:: wa-; of Mr. Ma"on and l,i" unfitnp,-, ~o 
o<·rupy the po,ition of GPnC'ral l\fana!!;ff. Mr. Edward;, ,:tate:a: very po:-1tively 
that the :a:tatements made by 1Ir. Haney to the Minister, the ,-tatements made 
by Mr. Lash to the Minister, the ,;tatements made by the Directors in their 
reports to the Minister, the statement-, made by thrse gentlemen one to the 
other, the inrorrertne,-~ of the:;e, could all have bren readily a,-rerlaincd by 
a very superfi1·ial Pxamination. It was not rnmr.thing whirh rP4uirecl a long 
time or very expert ability to find out; it was a matter of but a ,-hurt time 
and ordinary ability. 

The sC'rond question: what ~tep:i could have bt•m taken to ,:uve the :::ituation. 
That is on the one hand a ·very easy question to answer, and on the other a 
very difficult one. If one looks at the AC't, you ran find nothing in the Art 
which g;ive:-; the Government power to intervene. There is no provision for them 
taking· over the bank, or for the~ to compel a hank to close it,s doors. But 
yet that provi::ion is impliPd all through the Act. The bank is obliged to furni,;h 
a rC'port. Surely those reports mut.t be with the, i<lca thut the Gowrnment is 
furnished with information ac; to the standing and poc;ition of the bank, and 
that having that information before it, it may do something that will have the 
effect of placing future depo,;itors at lefl-.t on notice. That there is some pub­
licity pos"ible, some action possible, although I am free to admit that the Act 
is silent on the matter of what it 5hould be. 

"The King ean do no wrong" but he cerbinly can prevent a wrong being 
done, and in .~ome way or other the Government rould have found a way out of 
the difficulty. ~ir Henry Drayton and Sir Thomas White are with me on that 
point. They would cut the Gordian knot, and I must confess that perhaps the 
rough and rrady way in which they would have solved the difficulty was the 
way in which it might have been done, and perhap,: should have been done. Sir 
Henry Drayton says at page 134 that if he had known the truth of the matter 
he wo~ld not have set to wdrk in the way contrmplated by the Act, but he 
would have said to the 'pm,ident of the Bank: "You have got to let me put 
a man quietly in your bank, and you have got to let him go ahead through the 
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whole thing, you will obey the orders of that man and then we will see what we 
can do for you." 

His LORDSHIP: I remember that. 
Mr. BROWNING: Sir Thomas White says at page 359: "If I had believed 

that that bank was in danger of insolvency or about to close its doors, I would 
have said to the Canadian Bankers' Asrnciation: 'You take over that bank' " 
On page 360 he is a::;ked "If you had known the true facts, you would have had 
it taken over?-A. Undoubtedly." In his letter he says: 

"I would not have allowed a bank to fail during that time." 

In effect he says that the money had to ,pe raised and a financial crisis must 
not be brought about, and no matter what the cost, he would not have allowed 
a bank to fail, he would have done something, either finance it under the Finance 
Act, have compelled the Bankers' Association to take it over or through one 
or two other banks to take it over. Now to disregard Governmental red tape 
and to take the bolution suggested by Sir Henry Drayton and Sir Thomas 
White was possible. It is a solution that could have been given effect to at 
the time. The an::;wer to the second question, I submit therefore is that action 
could have been taken along the lines suggested by the two ex-Ministers, regard­
le:::" of the absence of any provision in the Act as to the power of the Govern­
ment to take the measures which the Ministers say they would have taken. 
At the risk of perhaps repeating what I am going to ref~r to later at a little 
greater length, I might also say that the Government could have taken the 
action, which was taken by Sir Thomas White, namely calling upon Mr. Jones, 
the auditor of the bank, under section 56A. That I will refer to a little later. 

The next quP;,,tion which I am dealing with is: what effect would an audit 
if made under 56A of the Bank Act have had upon the conduct of the affairs 
of the bank ~o far ac:; the present depositors are concerned? 

Section 56A of the Bank Act-with which your lordship is of course familiar 
-i~ this: 

"The ::'.\1:inister may direct and require any auditor appointed under 
the next preceding section of this Act, or any other auditor whom he may 
select, to examine and inquire specially into any of the affairs or business 
of the bank, and the auditor so appointed or selected, as the case may 
be, shall at the conclusion of his examination and inquiry, report fully 
to the Minister the results thereof." 

There can be in my humble opinion, no question that under 56 and 56A 
an audit wa~ contemplated. The words are: "select", "examine and inquire" 
and tho:;;e taken together with the word "auditor" and with the preceding part 
of Section 56 dearly show that oomething more than a mere copy of the records, 
of the bank books, is what is required. That is a real selection, an examination, 
an inve,;tigation, an audit of the books of the bank. And this wa-, called for 
by Sir Thomas. 

Mr. Clarkson at page 283 says that the duties of an auditor are more than 
to add and subtract; he is to report as to values; satisfy himself as best he.can 
as to whether or not the securities held by the institution whose books he is 
investigating are such as they purport to be. For instance if a security on a 
bank book is valued at $500,000, and corresponding to it in the files of the bank 
are bonds which on the face of"them appear to be $500,000, the auditor's duty 
i::i to go back and find out whether the bonds are of an existing company, whether 
that company is solvent, whether ·those bonds are worth the par value or the 
amount outstanding against them. He is more than a mere adder and subtracter 
of fiirures; and having that in mind, the auditor appointed by the Minister 
should have made such a report, such an examination, and such an audit as 
the Minister if he had anything in contemplation-I assume that he had-asked 
for. • 
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I am not going to deal with Mr. Jones' qualifications. They have already 
been dealt with by my friend Mr. Lee. But it would i,tem impoRsible for ~fr. 
Jonrs aR Bursar of Trinity College, a large imtitution, the dutic" in connection 
with whirh mw-t have taken up a ron;c:iderable part of hi" time, and he was 
al,;o auditor and arrountant for other in--,titutions,-it must have been very 
diffirult if not impos~ible for him to have rondUt·ted the dutiu of auditing the 
affairs of an institution surh as the HomP Bank at all satisfactorily and cap­
ably. And it may be that Mr .• Jones was not capable, that he did not appre­
ciate the re-;ponsibilitie.-. of hi,- po"ition, that he wa-, not able t.o fulfil those 
duties as they should have been fulfilled. That seems to have been borne out 
Ly the evidenre, and Mr. Edwards says at page 520 that Mr. Jones' reports 
were not audits in auy' :-;1 nsc of tht> term, they were ,.,imply copies of ledgfff 
entries, they were in no :-en"e Huch audits as are <'ontemplated by the Art or 
such a-. would be called for by anyone ronnerted with any in:,titution, who 
dc•,-ircs to find out exa,-tly how that institution stands: is it solvent? Is it 
making monf•y? How murh money is it making? How mu<'h money is it 
lo"ing? What kind of ~ecuritics doe:o it hold again-.t the loans it ha'> made? 
Nothing of that kind appears in Mr. Jone;;' report. He very casually dismif'sc~ 
th Mini'lter's rcque4; sends him a ropy of the l(dgrr entries as they refer to 
.Fro'-t, and turns over the other ~ntrie,, to the General l\Ianager, who in turn 
tran-,mits thrm to the Mini:;;tcr in the $::lme way, t:.iken apparrntly ju,,t from 
the books as the b'ooks stand, without any qm•,tion or report a'l to the value 
of the securities or any quPstion in connec-tion with the loans or anything that 
would in any way am;wer the questions that 1f the Minister had been in a 
po-,ition to gra-sp the significanre of them, must have bren in his mind at that 
time. The que,:tion as to how the bank was paying dividend,; when it wa-, not 
making any money; how it was carrying on in the face of inereasing los.-:Ps 
,unles,- by virtue of increa,ing depo~it~? Any in,;titution can rarry on as long 
a,, people are fcedin11; money into it every day; but there comrs a day of reck­
oning as there did for this bank; but the auditor threw no light on the situa­
hon and did not assist the Minititcr in any way shape or form. The qur,-tion 
as to what effect an audit would han had is further an,:wrred bv the extrarts 
I have given from the evidenrP of Sir Thomaf' White and Sir I-Ienry Drayton 
where they tell what they could hate done; that they could have put a man 
in the bank at once and elosed it. If they had done that at that time the effel't 
upon the then depo,;itors "ould han~ bren that they would have had a chance 
of grtting thc·ir money out. Mr. Edwards f'ays that the a;,set,;; and liabilitir,;; 
were about equal. The shareholders might have been called upon for some 
part of their double liability but in any ru.;;e there was a fighting; C'hance for the 
then depo,-;it.ors; and as Mr. Edwards further says, there would have bei:'n no 
present depo,-itor:,, the bank would either have been closed, or taken over by 
anothrr bunk. Something would have been done to warn anyone el~e from 
drpositing money in the bank, :,O that aftPr May 3h:t, 1916, or such time a~ 
action was taken by the Ministn, or the public in some way placrd on notice 
that that bank was not a s:1fe bank with which to do bu::-ines,1, t{ppn-.itors 
would have rea~ed doing business with that bank, with the rP"nlt that from 
the date on whirh notire was given to the publir, the date on whirh the merger 
took placr. or the date on whirh the bank was taken over by another bank, 
the depositors would have ::-fopped and at the J)rrsent time there would be 
no deoositor;; :-uch as there now are. Of course we cannot prevent depo:-itors 
gambling in other bank::- or in other wav~. But we are only draling with the 
prcf'ent situation; what would han been the effect so far as thr present depo,-;i­
tors are conrerned, if act.ion had been taken under an audit in 1916? 

Mr. LAFLEUR: :Mr. Browning, do you say that there is evidence from Mr. 
Clarkson as to the likelihood of the then depo-,itors being paid in full? 
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Mr. BROWNING:.No, I say Mr. Edwards ~ays that; I do not think Mr. 
Clarkf'on said it. 

Mr. LAFLEUR: I was trying to find out if you had di,,covered anything 
that would guide us on that. 

Mr. BROWNING: No, I looked cardully through Mr. Cl~rk,,on's evidence 
and he finds it impossible to place himself back in that position. ~fr. Clark­
son says that while intem-t had been added to interest and there undoubtedlv 
was a loss at that time, yet he cannot 1,ay what the assets were. The conditioU-:'l 
are so different now from what they were then that he cannot say, if tlw bank 
had been clo,;ed what would have been the result. But Mr. Edwards ;s:ays that 
figuring up the lossc'l, and counting as los~es unpaid interest and the aecumu­
lation of interc~t on securities which have proved to be valuele."s, that at that 
time might have been known to be bad, at least :-p far as the additional f'ecur­
ity was eoncPrned, because of the fact that: no effort was being made by the 
borrowers to pay interest on their loans-Mr. Edwards s.ays at that time there 
was a shortage of $3,700,000. 

Mr. McLAl:GHLIN: $3,370,000. 
Mr. BROWNING: It is either $3,370,000 or $3,700,000. 
Mr. McLAUGHLIN: It is; $3,370,000. · 
Mr. BROWNING: I am not ,o muc·h concerned ,vith the hundred:; of 

thou"and,;, I am more concerned with· millions. It is over three millions, at 
least, and, as against that, there was a ref.'erve of $300,000, and paid-up capital 
of between one and two millions. 

Mr. McLAUGHLIN: $1,946,000. 
His LORDSHIP: What page is that you are referring to? 
Mr. BROWNING: Page 513. That is the pr~ge dealing with l\Ir. Edwards' 

evidence, showing that the ;;hortage was $3,370,000, and that the reserve and 
capital amounted to about $2,200,000. So that, at that time, there was no 
question, at least from what Mr. Edwards rnys,--and WP l?an only take surh 
evidence as is before us-the situation was disquieting and embarrassing, so that 
there would be no doubt that, in 1916, the bank was not in a :;oh ent condition 
which, in the light of subsequent events, has proved to be the casr. 

In connection with that qurstion of what step:; could have bren faken under 
Section 56A, I would refer your lordship to page 367, Sir Thomas White';; 
evidence: 

"Q. But if you had sent an Auditor in he would have discovered then 
what we have discovered to-day?-A. If he was a good man he probably 
would, although I have not a great deal of confidence in auditors." 

Of course, he would have sent in no other man but a good man. Mr. ·white's 
idea of an auditor seems to rliffcr from that of Mr. C'larkson's. Mr. Clarkson 
says an auditor's duty is to question securities. Mr. White's idea is that he has 
simply to do with figures, that he is a bookkPepn, e;::=:entially. But we cannot 
conceive Mr. White or anybody el,:e placing any other than a good man in, and, 
if that had been done, he would have found the truth of what we have discovered 
to-day: 

So that it is respectfully submitted that even under the Act as it is now, in 
view of the returns which are to be given to the Government, disrpgarding what 
Sir Thomai:' says he could have done, and dit=:regarding what Sir Henry.Drayton 
says he could have done, the Government had such notice as threw upon them 
the rPio-ponsibility of taking some action of finding out what the difficulty was 
in order that the depositors might be saved the los,; which they ultimately met. 

There is room for argument as to what action was taken, the "teps that were 
taken, and what step:,, if any, were taken, the Minister on the one hand having 
:,tarted an inquiry, on the other hand not having followed it up, and one may, 
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supplementing perhaps adding to, what my learnrd !l"Soriate Mr. Lee, has said, 
a,ik the question why artion was not taken. Sir Thoma::; say::l, whether by way 
of justification or otherwi::ie I find it diffirult to imagine, that his disrrehon wa;, 
uneonditionrd and unfettered, that is, he wa::i not bound to act in any way. H~ 
rould have disttgarded the complaint-, made by the Western Directors; he could 
have disregarded all the warnings that were given to him, and could have said 
to these gentlemen, "I am Minister of tlie Crown, the Crown cannot be compelled 
to take action on the pr<'mic,es; I am free to act, or not to act, as the case may 
be, and apparently he takes that same sbnd to-day exrept in. so far ::i,9 it may 
he nere:3::;ary to waive it in order to allow the right of examination and cross­
f•xamination, and it may be that in his argument, as hinted at, he will take that 
,iame stand that you, f.ir, as Commi,;sioner have no jurdiction to review the 
findings of the Finanrc 1Iinister as a tribunal under the Act. 

One can hardly imagine Sir. Thoma;; seriously taking that stand, or any 
Government of which he was, or i-,, Finanre Mini,;ter, taking that stand, 
delibl·rately ;:aying in spite of• the Act which gives the Minister power to in­
ve:-tigate and rall for an audit, whirh ralls for C<'rtain returns to be made to 
the Government by the bank, notwithstanding all that, we will just look upon 
thtFL1 returns as so much waste paper, and we will have nothing to do with these 
romplainb. I do not think Rir Thomas will seriously• argue such a claim, or 
urge that he was unfettered and unconditioned. He cannot possibly, rarrying 
it to its logical conclusion, for the reaf-on that he did not art in an unfettered 
or unconditioned way. He had ,:ome idea of the seriousne::,,; of the situation. .\s 
I said before, I do not think he graspPd it at all, but he had some idea that there 
was ~omething that required explanation, and ,:o he writes to Mr. Jones a lettrr 
that might have been written by anybody really wanting to get at the facts. 
That letter is to be found at page 78 and read.,; :.1-, follows: 

"For your information I enclm:e herewith copy of a letter I have 
to-day addrei::sed to Hon. James Ma.,,on, Pre..:idrnt of the Home Bank, 
referring to a memorandum whirh has been officially filed with m« 
respecting c'ertain accounts of the Bank and requei::ting drbiilrd informa­
tion. 

'Tnder the provi:-ions of Section 56A of the Bank Art I now dirert 
and require you as Auditor to enquire into the account:- mentioned and 
report to me in all proper detail rr~perting thrm." 

Sir Thomas White could not have been asked to' do anything more than 
that, exrept that he might have made some inquiry as to Mr. Jone'i' qualifica­
tion::'. He might also have questioned whether :-omeone other than :'.vlr. Jonf•,,, 
some Auditor in the Department, could have gone in, but rertainly it rannot 
be suggested t.hat he should have done more than ask some capable per:;on to make 
nn audit under Sertion 56A. Certainly he did not consider him:::elf unfettered 
and unconditioned in any way, and

1 
I submit it is too late in the day, or rather 

it is not an argument which should be made by him in view of his position at 
the time, and also in view of what he did. 

On page 345, the question read,:: 

"You also decided that, it would ju-.tify an investigation under Sertion 
56A ?-A. I a«ked the Aurlitor to make a report to me. 

Q. That is undrr that sc;rtion?-A. Yr:-, 56A, ;yithout doubt I pro­
cfedrd under the Bank Act. 

Q. Well, you might an..:wer my que,:tion, you felt your$elf justified 
in ac,king for a report under Srrt.ion 56A of the Bank A<'t ?-A. Yr-;, 
undoubtedly, and calling on the Board and on the Auditor." 

Showing <that, at that time, Sir Thomas had in mind the ,;eriou:::ness of 
the situation in all its ramifications. 

• 
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I am going to urge, in view of his reputation for more than ordinary 
ability, that he certainly felt an audit was required, that an investigation 
should be further made, although, possibly, he did not go to the right sources 
for the information he de:::ired. 

With reference to the matter of an audit, my learned associate, Mr. Lee, 
has dealt with that, and I am not going to add to what he has said, except to 
emphasize this, that after a careful reading of all the correspondence between 
the Western Directors and the Minister of Finance, I have been unable to 
find any waiver on their part for a thorough investigation of :;ome kind. They 
do say that they have explicit confidence in Mr. La~h, and in Mr. Haney, and 
they hope that, with the aid of these two gentlemen, under the direction of the 
Minister, such action will be taken as will lead to a disclosure of the affairs 
of the bank as they really exift, but at no time is there a suggestion on their 
part that an investigation, an inside invei'tigation, should be waived. They 
asked, at first, for an outside investigation, they in,:ist on it, but, later on, in 
pursuance of Mr. La:,:h\, intimation that an outside audit would lead to serious 
results, and make the condition of the bank public, and precipitate a run; they 
fall in line with his reque:-t, but, as I say, at no time do they waive their 
de:-:ire for an audit, or that an investigation should take place by someone on the 
inside. All the:,;e records show that they are depending upon an inve.,,tigation 
being rarried on by someone under the direction of Mr. Haney and Mr. Mac­
haffic The Minister seems to have thought that too. The records show that 
Mr. Haney wa::; to make an investigation along with Machaffie and also that 
Mr. Haney was to have such ac,sistance as he needed in the making of that 
inve-;tiga tion. 

But admitting for the moment, which I do not think requires to be admitted, 
that no such waiver had been made, we haYe before us the Minister's state­
ment that even if the utmo:,;t harmony prevailed, if the Western and Eastern 
Directors had been united in agreeing that the bank's condition was all right, 
if th<! rrport a-J to the British Columbia timber limits by Me:,:srs. Crerar and 
Haney had bl'en i,ati:-ifactory, the matt~r, having been brought to his attention, 
he was bound in the public interest to see it through. The public interest was 
par::imount, aceording to his letters, and the fact that there was harmony be­
twe1:n the Eastern and We,:trrn Directors must not be given effect to. 

~o it cannot be argued, in any way, that he jailed to art because of the fact 
that the Western Directors had asked him so not to act. 

It may be argued by someone appearing here on behalf of Sir Thomas 
White, or pof''libly by other counsel: How are the depositors in any worse con- • 
dition than if no notice had been given? That is, supposing no notice had been 
given to the Government in 1916, the depositors Md continued doing busines:; 
with the .bank as they had been doing bu,;iness, in what wor::,e po:-ition · are 
t:liPy in to-clay, or would they be in to-day than they actually are? Well, of 
cour~e, thEJ answer to that is that they are in the same position exactly. No 
al'tion has followed, and, as far as they are concerned, it makes no difference 
to thrir los~es whether the notice had ·been given or not. 

But the facts are that it should make some difference. The Western Direc­
tors, as a ,:ertion of the Directors, are trustees for the shareholders, perhaps 
more for the depositors than the shareholders, because the sJrnreholders, in the 
light of after events, are inve::;ting their money in a somewhat speculative enter­
prise, and they elect the Directors, they are responsi.ble for the men who are 
<'arrying on the business of the bank for them, but the poor deposi,tors have no 
say in the matter. They have put their money blindly into the bank, and I 
re-:pertfully submit that the Directors are trustees as much for the depositors, if 
not more, than they are for the shareholderi,. Of course, the depositors have no 
voice in the direction of the bank at all, they are simply putting their money 
in, leaving it to be dealt with by the Directors and management. 
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Noti!'e was given by the Wt•-,tern DirPrtors to the Govrrnment whicl1 
creakd the bank, whil'h hpt it in businrsR, whirh rereiverl notiee monthly and 
yrnrly, and which, in 1923, renewed ih charter. So that while anti1·ipating an 
argumC'nt that may be made as to the po--ition in which they would have bl'rn 
if no notice had been given a, comparE'd with the po-1ition in \\"hich they are, 
noti('(' having bren given, I submit that while their pm,ition i-. not al'tually 
different it Rhould be different, a.-; notire wa,, given. 

As a mater of fart, we cannot imagine what woulrl have happenE'd if no 
nutirc had been given, and a re-,ponsiblity1 rnu-,t attach to the per:::ons to whom 
the notice wa::: given. ' 

In connection with that f'ame· enquiry, what -1tcps, if any, l'1Juld have been 
taken by the Government to save the situation, I tLink it i,- pertinent to con­
si<ll'r wlwtlwr or not the Mini,-tn knew the truth., and I approarh this hrancl1 
of the rnbjert with rorn,iderable hrsitation, becau-1e the Mini,:trr :<ay~ hP did not. 

My learner] assoriate, Mr. Lrr, t<ays he :::hould have known, at ka-1t, aftC'f 
1918. Mr. McLaughlin says that if he did not know it was brrau,-e he w:i-1 

blinded, or deafened, by circumstance,; beyond hi::. rnntrol ovrrwhrlming him, 
and that while he may have heard :::omething that under ordinary rircumstancl•s 
would have placrd him on his enquiry, and led him to searl'h after the truth, 
and the artual a~l'ertainmcnt 0f the truth, he did not bPrause of the great 
preHure of work that wa:::, thrn undrrtaken by him possibly know the truth, 
and the whole truth, regarding the m:.itter. ' 

I mu-1t ronfr;;:-i that if there had bern no war and rounsel were adclressing 
a Judge and .Jury charging Romeone in who,:e employ Sir Thoma" "White was 
at the time, i-omeone for whom Sir Thomas was not, within the :::eope of hi-­
duty, rr:::ponsibile, it would be argued, without any f:how of f'UCr(•,,;ful contra­
diction that he did know of all the cirrum,-tanres as to the eondition of the' 
bank in 1916 and'1918. Tliat is, he was placPd in possession of sueh information 
as, with a little further research or inquiry, would have enabled him to know 
exaet lv how the hank -,tood at that time. 

Was he negligent? That is a matter of opinion, of course, and it is diffi­
cult to judge of a man by present day conditions. He says he had implirit 
confidPnee in Mr. Laf'h, although he knew that J\Ir. Lash wa.s eounse! for the 
bank. He relied upon him. He f'ays that he had known ~Ir. Hanry for ~omc 
<'onsiderable time, I think he !"aid he was a:::,;ociated with him on the Ho..,pitai 
Board, and that some other gentlemen were elerte1l to the Dirertorate by wa~· 
of new blood, gentlempn who wf're known to him as men of standing in th1• 

.cummunity, and in 1918, at least, he thought that everything waR all right. 
I do submit, in addition to the argument made by my learned n~soeiate, 

Mr. LPe, and without in any way drtracting from it, because he is, of (•our~P, 
emphasizing the theory of negligence which :::houl<l be properly bPfore you, l-ir, 
aR Commissioner, in dPaling ·with this mattrr, that notwithstanding what Sir 
Thoma-; ::::1y<;, at. this time he could not apprrciate the extent, if any, to whic!1 
the war player! as a faC'tor in ,his mind. It was impo::::::ible at that time for him 
to get away from those condition". No man working practically twenty-four 
hours, because he says he was working eighh•en l10u,-,, and rC'reiving telE•phone 
rall::: aft.n he got home, could tell, as I ,:ay, t,0 what Pxtent those conditions 
played as a fartor in his mind. That alone would be suffiricnt exru,e. 

But we can all understand now, if we put our--elvp,; bark, what a ·weight 
was upon every man, what a weight was upon every father ancl rvrry man in 
a publie position at that time with the burdens of the day, and the men ovPr­
seas, how all this must have engros,;ed Sir Thomas White's mind to the exrlm-ion, 
practically, _of everything else. 

,;.;o I urge that, notwithstanding anything he may now say, and I feel that, 
perhap;:s, he is trying, unconsciously, to over-estimate his own i"trrngth, he W'l.' 
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at that time so posse:osed and engrossPd with the affairs of State and nati0nal 
defence that he cannot be judged by present day standards. 

It i~ true that this explanation is somewhat favourable to the depositors. 
Wt> :-ay that they were sacrificed at that time, consciou:-ly or unconsciously for· 
the good of the puhlir at large, the war bPing then on, and every effort being 
put forth for its :-uccessful pro:,rcution, and now when the war is over we should, 
in turn, be given the com:idrration of the public at large who benefited by our 
saerific•p, and be recompensed for what we have suffered. 

I have referred t-0 the theory that the King can do no wrong, but in the 
Pr•it:on which was presented to His Excellency, the Governor-General-in-, 
Council, and the Commi::::::::ion i:o::5ued to you, this dors not enter into con:oidera­
tion at ::i,11. The Government ask you to report upon the facts, they wi:,h to 
know what they are, and then they are going to determine whl'ther or not it 
will bP proper to pay out of thP public monPys an amount sufficient to indemnify 
the depo8it"ors·. They won't take the position that the King can do no wrong, 
ot11trwi,ae this Commis:-ion will be useless, or they will not take the position 
tliut t111,y are in a different position from any Government, or any individual, 
who i8 being askPd to pay a claim that has been sustained by rca,;,on of his 
failure, a:- bl.!ing ~omething which he 5]10uld not have done, so that I do not 
need to deal with that. 

Our daim is supportrd by the facts that were brought to the attention of 
the Government. The condition of the b;:mk, in 1916, was brought to the atten­
tion of the Government, and that condition could have been ascertained either 
bv the Minister of Finance, or by 1:,omeone on his behalf, and· that such con­
d1t:on wa:- a serious one, and at this time would have been known a-, ~rious to 
anyone who, examined the affairs of the bank. The Government found that 
such was the ease, and as the result of the bank being allowed to earrv on 
busine:-s from 1916 to 1923, the public were relying on the fact that the bank 
wa, chartered by the Gonrnment. the bank's charter being renewPd in 1923. 
We a:,sume then that the Government will do what is right, because the King, 
above all persons, is the one who will do the right, and right the wrong, and I 
think we, as depositors, can quite unhesitatingly leave it to P~rliament to do 
what is proper to be done under the circumstances. 

Then the answers to the questions, as disclosed by the evidence, are a,; 
follows: · 

In am,wer to the first question, represeHtations were made to the Depart­
ment of Finance in 1916 and 1918, not in 1915 becauge although the letters were 
written in the year 1915 they did not actually reach the Minister until 1916. 
Repre:-entations wrre made to the Mini,,;ter in 1916 and 1918. 

In 1918, the war was still at its height. Your lordship will quite remember 
how just about the time of ::\Ir. Machaffie's letter we were th.en afraid that 
Germany might make its final rush and overwhelm us. The Minister's work 
was inorea-,ed possibly atj it never was before, otherwise how could he prn,sibly 
have jumped to the conclusion that Machaffie was not to be trusted because of 
his being a dismissed employee. That is an idea that one might get into his 
mind, but he dismissed the complaints entirely because someone connected with 
the em_ployment says "Don't pay any attention to this man, he has left our 
employment becau"e he wa:- unworthy of trust." How any one could po~-,iblv 
fail to go to the man and say to him we have heard such and such in answer 
to vour communication is hard to understand. One cannot imagine Sir Thomas 
could have acted as he did in connection with that, knowing him a-, we do td 
be a man of the highest ability, and conscientious in his work, unless he was at 
that time overwhelmed and engrossed with the affairs of State. 

Ro that the answer to the first question is that representations were made 
showing a state of affairs such as would have justified an inspection under 
Section 56A. 
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The same answer prevails as to number 2: 

"Whether, if surh representations were made, a state of affairs was 
revealed concerning the condition of j:,he said bank such as would have 
justified an investigation under the powers conferred upon the Minister 
of Finance by Section 56A of the Bank Act." 

That such a state of affairs was revealed is rlearly shown by the fact that 
an investigation was directed. • Sir Thomas White asked Mr. Jones under 
Seetion 56A to make an inve,,tigation. No one wac; more rompetent than Sir 
Thomas at the time, or even now, as Minister of Finance, and certain matters 
were brought to his attention, and he thought an inveftigation should be made, 
and he directed that one he made, so that there can be very little doubt that a 
f'tate of affairs was revealed concerning the condition of the bank such as would 
have justified an investigation. 

It is true that between the time of the request made by the Mini,,kr to 11:r. 
Jorn•s for the inquiry and time of the official report by Mr. Jones, there is cer­
tain corre-;pondrnce which, to some extent, indicates not cxac~ly a weakening 
on the Minister's part but a lack of de-,ire, or lack of n~ed for the inve,:tigation 
or audit that he previously wanted. But I do not think the letters go that far. 
If they do, they do not excuse the Mi-nister in any way. However, hr had 
ai-ked for it and Mr. Jon f's did not furnish it. .If the Minister did not acik for 
it further, then that, of course, is another mat~er. 

Then we eome t-0 the third question: 

""\Vhat action, if any, wao; taken by the tlwn Minister of Finanee 
upon such repre,-,entations ao; may have bren made." 

That, I submit, is al-;o c\rar on the evidenre. Perhaps there is more inaction 
than a<-tion, but certainly there is action. There was the corre,-pondrncr with 
the Directors, with Mr. Fi1-her. That rould hardly be action, but at lea,-t it 
evillt>nrf''3 a certain anxiety on his part to find out whrther or not the statements 
made by them are in accordance with tl1P fad:,,, a ck,-ire to find out the n•al con­
dition of the bank, an appn·hen..,ion of t hr seriousne:-:- of his po,-ition as Finance 
Mini~ter, and thm he writri' to Mr. Jones asking for an audit under 56A. 

:Now, that at lc:11-t is a request in the direction of adion. It is a de,-ire for 
information, and while he doe,,; not get the information yet, a..; far a-, the :\Iini,.:t-t,r 
wa:: concerned, he askPd for it. FurthPr than that I cannot find that any a1-tion 
wa-; taken by him in 1916. From 1916 to 1918 no action appears to have been 
takm. In 1916 he had said to the Bank Directors, through :'.\fr. Lash, you may 
carry on bu~ine-,s. It iti in the rorrespondrncr that Mr. J\lal"Haffic and Mr. 
Hanc-y were to makP an inw,-,foi;ation of this bank, and I think, furth<'r, the 
1\liui,-ter, if \1e had thought of it at all, must have under~tnod that som«' report 
of that invr-;tigation wa:;, to have been prr,entrd to l1im. The Wl•,;tcrn Dirrrtorc; 
werr a'-'king for a voice in thP munagrment, anrl a,-king that they be um,-,ultrd 
upon all important mutt,lTS . It wa" lwfore the \1 ini--ter that tlii~ was to he done. 
The Wt>"tcrn Dirrrtor:,, were to be given a voice in the managrment of all import­
ant mattPr,- rl'hting tu the bank, and the further matter that no dividrndc.; w1•re 
to be paid excrpt out of moneys actually Parned, partirularly in connrl"tion with 
thr Fro4 nnd. the Xew Orlean,- arrnunt. That C'undition of affairs l"nntinU!, from 
1916 to 1918. 

Witl1in :-ix wC'rks after 1ir. La,;h '3 a;;:..,ur:1nre divirlond;:, are paid out of 
intPrr~t unearnrd, and, with the <·xrrption of the Fro:--t ac-rount, divi,lc·nd,; r(,n­
t inued t-0 be pr.id to the end of the bank's hi~tory in the riM• of all large i,tC'tount!", 
I think, at the imbncc of thr Director, out of ,if'pm:itori--' monC'y, and tbe ar·, rued 
intere!"t rapitalizrd and credited ac; profits. 
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The fourth question: 

"What cff ect would an audit· under Section 56A of the Bank Act, if 
made in 1915, 1916 and 1918, have had upon the conduct of the affair:, of 
the said bank upon the position of the pre;;ent depositors." 

That question is an,;wered by Mr. Edwards, that, there would be no present 
depositors. The bank would have ceased doing business, would have been taken 
over by the Government; a condition of affairs would have been made public 
to such an extent that the publit· would have been warned, and there would lmve 
been no loss, so far a;; the bank is con<·erned, on the part of the pre:;ent depositor:,;. 

Whether any qf the present depositors were depositors in 1916 I do not know. 
The pm<ition of the two rla::;ses of depositors is, of course, somewhat different. 
Previous to 1916, no warning had been given. The depositors then had no claim 
on the Government. They relied at that time upon the Bank Act, and they 
relied upon the fact, rightly or wrongly, that the bank being chartered by the 
Government, the bank being obliged to furnish reports monthly and yearly, some 
obligation existed upon the Government to protect them at least so that they 
might know, or realize the safety of the moneys deposited by them with the bank, 
and, to that extent then, the dPpositors of 1916 are Pntitled to C"onsideration. 

(Adjourned at 1.10 p.m. until 2.30 p.m. on Friday, 16th May, 1924.) 

AFTERNOON SESSION 

OTTAWA, ONT., 
FRIDAY, 16th May, 1924. 

Proceedings Resumed at 2.30 p.m. • 

ARGUMENT BY MR. BROWNI~G ( continued) 

Mr. Commissioner, I would like to qualify my argument as to question 3. 
In dealing with that I referred to the letter of the Minister as action under 
the request al-\ made. To a certain extent it was, but it seems to me the 
que:;:tion refers to what action was taken a'l bearing upon the depositors and 
the result to them, and in the face, of the evidence submitted it must be 
admitted I think that no action actuallv was taken. 

Then as to question 4. What effect would an audit under section 56A 
of the Bank Act, if made in 1915, 1916 and 1918 have had, rnch audit would 
undoubte<lly have disclosed the eondition of the bank, would have ,bown 
and emphasized the improper payment of dividends, the accounts outstanding, 
and the general condition of t.he bank, and even at that time would have 
brought to light what Mr. Edwardo; now says was the case, that the bank was 
practically insolvent except in so far a,, the shareholders might be called upon 
for part of their double liability. 

The answer to question No. 5 it is submitted is disclosed by the evidence 
in view of the lohef> made, and the continuance of thP bank at the expem-c 
of the depositors to the end of 1916, the impairment of its capital through the 
purchase of La Banque lntPrnationale, the loss at that time of the bank's 
equity in the ~ew Orleans Railway, the ronuition at that time wac; one of 
insolveney, which condition continued to 1918. The bank having made a 
!'mall speculative profit of some thousands of dollars in 1918, this was more 
than eaten up by the dividends paid in 1917 and 1918. ,The steps that could 
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have been taken by the Oovernment to .-ave the :-ituation were ,:btrd by 

~ir Henry Dr:tyton and bir Thomas Wtitr, they could have cut the red tape 

if any red tape were binding thr enforcement, tlwy would have put a man in 

the bank, or compelled otl11•r banh to take it owr, they woul1l have dune 

--omttLing to prevent the pre,-rnt day depu:::itors und those sub--equcut to 1918 

entru~ting their money to the bank and lo:5ing it therC'by. 
It ha:; therefore beC'n proved by cuun-d fur the dcpu:5itor~, I ,-ubmit, that 

notirr was given to the Covernment in 1916 by the Wcdrrn Direl'tor,: through 

~Ir. Fi:-her of \Vinnipeg, that such noticr wa,. a continuing not:rP from that 

time until 1923, the paper-- being on the files of the Department all that tinw, 

C'Xeept tho,-p which were by mi,-takP .-rnt to Sir Thomas White. Accepting the 

Prime Mini,-ter's ,-btement regarding Honourable ~Ir. FiPlding at ib full valuP, 

I think Mr. Fielding mu,-t be excu:c-ul from any prr,-onal knowledge of ,-ul'l1 

file, but that doe., not Pxem;e the Gonrnment. We arc not cliarging Sir 

Thoma~ White, ~ir Hl•11ry Drayton or Hon. Mr. }'if lding pcr,onally, we are not 

a,iking them to rl'imbur,;e ~ out of t!1eir porket.; for the lt),,p,.. we have sus­

tained, we are a,-king the Oovernment of the Dominion of Canada to reimbur,-e 

u,. If the p:1pni- on file were not known to Sir Henry Drayton or to Mr. 

Fielding, while the fault may not be theirs it mmt lie with the Government 

machinery. It hardly ,;eem,- po,~ible that the bank'~ drnrter could be rcmwcd 

in 1923 without someone in the Department knowing and recalling the revrln.­

tion,: that had been made. There mu-;t be ;;omething wrong wlwn a file can 

be put away, relrgated to the attic or the cellar, forgotten by everyonr, and 

whrn the bank make,; applieation in 1923 for the renewal of it-, ChartPr 

therP is nothing on record as far as the n·,-.pomible officers of thl' Crown arc 

conrrrned to show that the attention of the Government wa:-, ever callrd to 

iti' eondition, so that they might a-:k them;;:elve,:; what is the aetual eondition 

of thii' bank at this time, are we to renew that Charter and therC'by lull 

the public into a renewed fah;e sreurity that it is a bank whieh can properly 

continue to" earry on; busim•.,,._? There is something ,-.rrioui'ly wrong when rnch 

an important matter as this continues from 1916 to 1923 and the Charter i;;: 

renewed at that time without Mr. Fielding the present Mini,-,ter of Finance 

knowing anything about it. There ;.hould be some official in the Depart­

ment who would kePp track of ::,mh matteri', have.a daily or yearly reeord of 

tranrnctions relating to the banks, there are onlv fourteen altogether, the 

most important financial im-titutions in the country; to think that they ran 

be carried on from year tu year apparently without any knowledge on the 

part of anybody as to how their bu,inrs;:; is being carried on is a,-tounJing. 

Further than that, we have the records and statement-; to whirh I have referred. 

We have al:rn proved that the lo,-,-es, from the time the notiee was given to 

the Government in 1916, to 1923, were vrry <'On-:iderable; aecording to Mr. 

Clark:-on the <'reditors will not be paid more than 40 cents on the dollar. A 

dividend has been paid partly by borrowing from other banks and the balance 

will only be paid over a trrm of years. There is a lo;:;:i of over $9,000,000, 

how much more depend;;: on the realization of the timber limits and the New 

Orlean,; Railway and other a,set,:, the particulars of whil'h :'.\fr. Clarkson 

did not care to give becau:;e he frars that by calling attrntion to their condi­

tion the sale of the as"eb might be prejudiced. 
So I think you might quite properly be a,-ked, and quite properly deal 

with the question; wa,; there any obligation existing upon the Government in 

view of thi-, notice and the lo-,,r:- which have been '-m,tained by reason of the 

not ire not being acted upon? I ,:mbmit and urge very strongly that an over­

whelming obligation re:;ts upon the Government. If it is under no obligation, 

if its diserrtion i,- unfettered and uneonditi0nal, if it can ,-.tand by and see it,; 

.. 
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own child drowned, what do .sections 56 and 58 and 112 and 113 mean? The Government having created the bank and allowed it to stay in existence by renewing it-, Charter for ten year:,, if thosr ~ections mean anything they surely mean that some obligation is thrown upon the Government, and that obligation should be fulfilled to the extent at !east of taking i1etion to protect the .depos­itors a.nd ,-hareholdns when, to the knowledge of the Government, a condition of affair:- cxi,ts which would jw-tify al'tion bring taken. 
In this rnse that obligation has nut been fulfilled, the depo~ittir~ lrnn lo:--t some $9,000,000. It eould ban \)('en fulfilled. ;-;o I rcspectfull:v a,-k that que,-tions 1 to 5 be answerrd in :c;uch n "·ay n,; wi:I ju"tify the allrgations of the prtition; that you will find that tho,-;e are ;;tatc:ment~ of fact, borne out by the cvidenre, and that the n•('it.al in thr prayn of the pd.itioners i,; to that t·Xtf'nt confirmed. And l a\'ing in mind al-o the fart that you ar~ at liberty to exprC'~;; an opinion on t'.1e e,·1dl·nce, I re~pedfuily urg(· that an op:nion be )!iven to tlH' l'ff Pd that thr prayer of tLc• petitioner,- for indemnity to the extent of tlieir los,-e~ be given effrl't to. ·without ner•("'"arily imputmg negligence to anybody, with,rnt blaming an_\· Jnrt icular ::\lini,tl r of the Crown, beenu,;e we are not doing that. we are ,-rrking a remedy from tl.e Gonrnment of Canada; and I i'Ugg(•,.t that you c·1111 quite proprrly lXpre,-,, tl P opinion that the pr.1yPr of the petitioner,, that a Bill ·of IndPmnity be pa,-~vd by the Parliament of Canada should in view of thr eYidenre br gi,·en cffrd. to. A" one of the rnunsrl for tlw depo-<itor:;; I urge that that be dunf' 

ARGF\IEXT BY -.:rR THO::\IAS \YHITE-
Ma-" it plea,.;e your lnrd-lnp; whe11 I :--urvey thi,: array of ( oun:=:d, and ,-ee on one ::-ide my able and PXperienl'l'd learnrd friC'nd Mr. 1IcLaughlin, and mv fiery anll pue;nariou~ frirnd l\1r. Lrl', anc! my practical and .,;agac·iou, friend Mr. Browning, and my reduubtablr and intrPpid friend 11r. Reid; and on thl' other --ide the leader of thr Quehrr Bar, and indeed the leader and dean of the Bar in Canada, 11r. Lafleur, and the leader of the Manitoba Bar :P1d an adrn,·ate known as of tho highr,;t di;;tinction in all the tribunal'- o 1 

Canad;1, ~Ir. i::iymingtnn, I knmr .iu~t how Dtllliel frlt in the den of lion-1. '\Yhrn I ~rP tLl'm 'ookinir so hungrily at me I kno,Y ju,-t how he felt. I may :-..iy al:-:o in t-hat connertion that havin!( regard to the eYidrnc·r, impf'rfert and incom­plete as it 1s upon the r('eord. and ha,·in11: rpgarrl tn the trained judgment which T know your lorrl~hip will bring to bear upon that eYidrnre, I am not without hope that I may fare a;.: "·ell a,-; did t!1e prophet upo11 th!lt f1imed hii'torira! orrasion . 
I have been rclmtant to appear in this argument, and I am sure J nrrd not say to you. sir, that it i,: not by reason of any consid€rati'on per:<onal to m~·"elf but beeam-e I am unwilling to apprar in oppo-ition to rlaim,- for public aid on the part of ,:o many of my fellow citizens who as depositors in the Home Bank of Canada han suffered grirnHI" lo:'". Tf a petition had been prp<:entrd to the Go\'ernment. for ;::ome rea,:;onable legi!-latin mrasure of public relief tin ground:-: of widr:--prrad national calamity, I per"'onally a,; a eitizen would han cheerfully asi'mted. and gladly rontributed my share as a tax­payer. ~uch relief ha:3 frequently b<>en given upon orrasions when an earth­quake or ~ome other visitation of the forces o'r nature ha,- dC',.troyed citie~ and eaused wide;;.pread ruin among their inhHbitants. J..,arge rnm" hiwe been voted by Parliament in surh c:1H·--. even when the ratastrophe has orrurred in foreign <>ount.ries. · 
The Home Bank wa..: ju;;t a, ,.:ureb· blown up by underlying di~hone:-ty and undi,:clo,-ed fraud as citir<: are blown up by subterranean volcanir force;: 

79316---3 
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whu:-e prc:;ence was unsuspected by the citizen:; who were its victims. One 

is tangible, the other intangible, but the intangible is no le~~ deadly than the 
tangible. 

Bvt unforttinatcly this course has not been pursued by counsel for the 
Depo,-itors. They have set up a claim for relief, alleging remissness by the 
Department of Finance. They do not .say that they have a legal claim, their 
claim they ~ay i:; a ffil•ral one. On legal analogy they 1:,ay there was remiss­
ne:,;s, that following upon that remissne,:s at5 it:; m,tural and inevitable conse­
quemu,, are all the lo~:-'es that haye been suffered by the bank from 1916 down 
to it, collapse in Augu.;t last. 

More than tliat, and here al,o is whrre I am mainly cun<'crned,-attack 
ha.;; been ,·onrPntrated upon me, I was l\lini~ter of Finan<'c during the war, 
although time ~ini:;::ters of Finanre have bern in eliarge of the Department 
from 1916 down to the rollap,c of the b&nk in 1923. This brings me to a 
matter which I <lc:;ire, with your perrni,,-ion, to clear up at the very outset of 
my argument. I refer to the 5.lrs of the Department of Finance relating k• 
the Home Bank, the file,: public and private, about which thrre ha,;: bren a 

great deal of discussion not only before thi:; Commi,,ion but throughout the 
eount.ry. I am giving your lord"hip now the grounds for ,·crtain ~pecial findings 
which I am go~g to ask you to make. ];or months pa,;t I have suffered under 
t hr most unjust imputation:- in rrspect to thc~e file,. In certain of the Pres<;, 
not all the newspapers of ,Canada - I am happy to ,11y, but in certain of the 
Press and in debates in Parliament di::-tru,.,t and suspicion have been sown in 
the public mind regarding the,:c files; and I say to you, :'.\Ir. Commi5sioner, 
that-no one in Canada has welcomed this Commission of rnquiry in order that 
the facti:,, the truth and nothing but the truth, should be brought out, more 
than I. I therefore a-,k your lordship to make certain special findings in view 
of these imputations whirh have been unjustly cast upon me. 

The first finding I am going to a-;k your lord-.,hip to make is with regard 
t.o the public file. It has bl'Cn stated by respon~ible Minii:,ters of the Crown,­
! make absolutely no reflection upon thrm, I wr:s never known as a man 
who made reflection, upon othrr mrn, but rr:-:pon:'ib,c :'.\Iini::,t.er,- of the 
Crown have :,.t,'ltcd in Parliament, and it has bern rcpl·ated in the Pre:;f-, 
that this file was missmg. I am :--orry to :say thftt. tlrn impre:-:f-ion has gone out 
through this Dominipn, and if- not rountcracted yet, that I was the cause of 
the remov;;tl of that file. That is the ground for the ¥nding in this regard which 
I ask. and submit I am entitled to ask. I refer to two utteranfes in the House 
as reported in Hansard. In the debate in the Home of Commons on March 
27th. Hon. E. M. :'.\facdonal,l, :'.\1:inister of National Defence said to Mr. 
l\Irighc·n:- · 

"Docs the right honourable gentleman mean to $ay that thi,- govern­
ment got the complaint that ,rn,; made to :--ir Thoma:- ,vhit<> in 1916? 
All I have to say is there is no such rerord in the Department." 

And Hon. Mr. Robb, Acting Minister of Finance ~aid:-
'"We have copies that were di«roverecl in the Homr Bank filr,: of 

certain letters that were sent out. We have not c·opic,- of the letterf:, 
that came down to Sir Thomas." 

Now you underst:mrl, your lordship, that I make absolutely no reflection 
upon those Minister,: of the Crown, but they made tho;.e statemcnh, anrl they 
have gone out through the Press, and that is the reason why I want your lord­
ship to make a special finding in this matter in bare justice to me. I am not 
in public life, but I have a certain standing and reputation whjrh i,- 0f value 
to mr in the business community and I ,lesirr it to be prei:,erved. 

Now on the fin,t day of the enquiry before your lordship, counsel for the 
Dominion Government placed befo!e you in evidence from the public files of 
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t.he D~partment of Finance no ks~ than ninety-seven page:3 of the record, 
Exhibits 2 to 42 inclusive, containing all the original documents received from 
John Fisher, KC. in 1916, every one of them. These con::;i:;;t of the original 

. Fisher complaint ·on behalf of the Western Directors of the bank, ·with the 
letters and reports connected therewith, memoranda relating to the Fro::;: 
lumber account, the Pellatt account, the New Orleans Railway account, the 
Prudential Trust Company, the Fidelity Trust Company, corre~pondence be­
tween the Western Directors and .James Mason, complaint:; as to inspection 
methnds at Head office, everything whaboever that was ever discloced to me 
at that period, in fact everything in substance that was ever disclosed to me 
at any period, to11;cther with my official letters to and replies from the Home 
Bank with re:a:pcct to the Frost a<"count, the ~ellatt account and the New 
Orleans account. Abo the report I re<"C'ived from the bank, giving detail::; of 
these accounts and their history. Al"o the report of the auditor as to the Frost 
loan, ~bowing that interest had been added to principle for many years previ­
ou:3ly. All these have been on the public filPs of the Department of Finance, 
open to the inspection of Ministers and officials since the day they were received 
by me. So that- there may be no doubt whatever in the mind of your lordship 
about the matter I read from the eviden<"e producrcl by Mr. Symington on the 
first day of this enquiry, the evidence of Mr. Roberts, the Secretary of the 
Dcpartmc-nt; • 

''Q. Have you made a ~ear<"h of the Departmental records in con-
nection with the affuirs of the Home Bank?-A. Yes sir. 

Q. And do you here produce all the records you could find?-A. Yes. 
Q. You have, I understand, the original file here?-A. Yes. 
Q .. From the Departmental file ?-A. From the official records of 

the Department of Finance, yes. 
Q. And it is your desire, I understand, to put in copies nnd take your 

Departmental original away?-A. That is the cu,;,tomary procedure with 
refetence to public. documents." 

And again the witness says, ''That Pnds· the memoranda and dorumcnt~ 
rnbmitted by Nlr. Fisher to the ~linister of Finanrc." 

Q. Ro that we .inay get it r-lear, all the documents which you have 
read and placed before the Commission to this moment are document;:; 
and copies of document::; handed to the Mini':itPr in January, 1916 by 
James Fisher, Esq., KC. of Winnipeg?-A. Yes sir. 

Q. And that completes the whole file that he handed tq the Minister? 
-A. As far as it is on the records of the Department. 

Mr. LEE: The originals wrrc not "ent the Mini1;:tcr, only copies?­
A. These are the original copil::-, I do not know that there were ever 

, any copies made exl·ept for this Commission. 
Mr. SYMINGTON: What you h:we produced are the original docu­

ment,:, the actuul documents that Mr. Fisher handed the Minister?-A. 
The original memodanda and supporting copies of documenh which Mr. 
Fisher l1anded to the Minister of Financ,c. 

Q. That is, what purport to be copies are shown, but these are what 
was handed to the ::\iinister by Mr. Fif'her?--A. Yes. 

Q. The papers that were handed to the· Mini~ter?-A. Yes. 
Q., And they cover all ?-A. As far as the Departmental records 

show." 

Now I ask your lordship to find expre~,:ly, in justice to me and in view 
of the imputations that have been caf't upon me-I do not say deliberately by 
everyone who hn'l made ~he statement-that all thrse documents and memo-
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randa, which rontain in suL.,;Lrncc- all that was ever brouglit to my attention a,: 

Minii'ter, ha rn been on the public filrs of the D1.:p:.1rtment, open to the insp1,c­

tion of every Minister simP tlir date;:; upon whid1 they were rcv~ived by me. 

It i:-- idle to s.1y ti.at :-<ir TL,im:1 .,; White only n ('rived these repre,-entations and 

notices, those documents have bt•t-n bP.fore every Mini, t,•r of the Crown since 

1916, and tho.,;e repre"entatiun-; rn-callcd have bP1•n ~p1 aking to every :'.\Iinic;trr 

of the Crown :;:nee tlie d:1tei' they were rr(·<'ivcJ by me. :::3o rnrn·h for the publi, 

filf'. 
Now I am going to a-:k your lord.,;hip for another finding in jmtiee to me, 

I a::;k this on strong.:r grounds even t:,an in regard to the public file, that is in 

regarrl to tl1e private tile. It h:.1,: gone all over C'analln, that I carried off the 

priv:tte file and then k1·pt back from my ,,uc,·r-soril important information re­

lating to foe Home Bank of CarntLla. I W:L>i maligned ab0ut it for weeks in tl~e 

City of Toronto. 
1 have shown in evidence that when I left Oti:;.wa I left all my cor­

rPi'-p:1ndPn1·e with my Privafr :-<hrE.t:try. He wa;; tu a~c.;ort it and return to me 

wt.at ht> n·r.,uded as pri n;te. Thd is fre usual tour-;e, u,; it take-; weeks 

or montl1::- to do thif-. I brought aw:ty no corrhp,mcli-nce whatever. Whtn I 

left ! lttawa tlie Ftatr of my he:1lth through overwork was such that for one ye:i.r 

I w,H unable to do any wurk what ,never, a1- I tc,t.ificd foe other day, and I a-:­

sure you, sir, that I was not thinking of file". Anrl when I was Minister­

and I believe ttli<, is the univrr:-al pra('til'e, indl'rd it could nut be othrrwise 

-I left it to my ScerPtary to file le-: 'aers L;; he saw fit. A ~iinif't.pr is a breath­

]es~ hunted neaturc, he ]w-, no t:me to go behinrl t1ie scpm • and tell his berre­

tary what he is to file a,- private anrl ,1·hat a,; public. I do not remE.mber eVC'r 

giving anv instru('tion,- tD my PriY ,ti' ;:"ccretary, an,i I had three of them dur­

ing the v.:•r, to file anyt'.1ing :3pceially a, private, I may have dnn!' ,o but I 

du not rrcall it. I k,Ll e0nfi,lt·m•p in my Serrctarie;;; and in tltt::ir judgment, 

an l they did the filing. I had no time to suppn·i;-;c d('tail:-,. 1\1y fir:-t Prn ::k 

~p1•rd:uy, Mr. Vit>t-:, WPnt over~•·a, almo:-,t ht t'.ie nui1 ,n ak of the war anrl 

w 1,; wounde1l; in 1916 I too~, on my next Prirnt1· Serrrtary, Lawrl'nCc Code, 

I can h:trdly think of him without emotion, lie waf: killer! OH-r'-'Ct:-; an-I in 1917 

Mr. Robert-, who Lail offrn·d him'-Pif but wa'- rejU'ttd, bt'C'ame my Privde 

~l'rrrbry. The file;,, your l0-:d:-'.1:p, are preci,Ply a~ thr :3rrrcbril''-l m:uln thlm 

up, there was no intt·rfnen!'e on my part. I do not think,--but of rourf:e at 

this disbnce of time I cannot be I Prbin,-that it ,r:1-; in my mind th~t. any pa: t 
of the correspondence would rver be returned to me. The tram,action,- had oc- t 
curred long before anJ by 1923 cprtainly the Home Bank had gone largely out 

of my mind. I had unckrf-tnod, as I lrnve testified in evidence, tlrnt t!w h:rnk 

was doing well unrl<'r Mr. Daly's Pre~idency. Its dividen•ls had bl'Pn inerPa-ed 

twice aftl'r I lrft offir.e and it-, published Annual Statements showed on the fae,, 

of them a good position. I eerbinly had not the filrs or the mrmory of the fileR 

in mv mind. I have alway,; bt·Pn rather conscil'ntious in reg,1rd to my duties 

as Minister, I think I may say that without boa-,ting, and after I had had a rea-

sonable rc-t, in thinking over the :,ituation at Ottawa I wrote to ::\Ir. Robert'3 

my former Secretary, who was then Secrrtary to Sir Henry Drayton, in J anu-

ary, 1920, to bring the three Home Bank accounts to the attrnt:on of my suc-

ccs:.,,or. I do not remember what was the occa-,ion of that letter, it may have 

been something that oreurred or something that cro"sed my mind, I cannot.re-

caU.. I ask your lordship to note the wording of the letter, "To place before 

the Mini:;ter the file re,,perting the Home Bank." I did not say the private 

file,-and I do not believe at that time, in fact I know, I was not expecting any 

Home Bank file at all to be returned to me. 
Now your lordc;hip, I heard nothing further, except the letter from Sir 

Henry Drayton and my reply, both of which are on the record, until last 
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RPpkmber when tl1e file wa,: n turned to me. As I testified, I was surprised 
to receive it and I thought at the time that it had heen sent,-probably I had 
better not :my by direction of the Minii.:trr, but by direction of officia:,; of the 
Department. I ha vc tf,,-.t · fie•l wiiat I lfo '. w;th tli,tt file, it came back to me 
alter the bank had failu!, thry evidently did not want it at Ottt•wa, at le:1•t 
that ,ms my view,-0r why was it sent to me? Mr. Roberts h,1-, exp!ained 

' that lw thought it proper tu return it to mr, but I was undu the impres,;:on that 
he had been ,rnt baek with it. I did not rrturn it to the Department, I called 
up tl1e Attorney-Crncr:11 vf Ontario, becau.3e then thrse informations had bern 
laid and I think pru::-1 rut ion:- had bt ,•n. in::;titutecl, thtct is my recollection. I 
called up the Attorney-General of Ont.trio ::tnd told him I had received a file 
from Ottmrn in the Home Bnnk n_1dtcr and that it was in my posse,:sion avail­
able for hi::; counsel at any timr. < lwing to the attad~; which were made on 
me at t'.int time by the Toronto Globe I gave the substance of :=,ome of the letters 
to the Pre~'i. I did thd in ,-.elf-protection, there was no other way to counter­
act the campaign whirh w 1-; bdng condurt,rrl a;~ain-,t me. I could not publish 
tlw whole file, I have never publi;:;lied a confidential letfrr in my life aml I never 
will, unles, before ::,ome tribunal' t'.1d ha, the right to a:::k it; I could not pub­
lish the Crerar lcti"er, it w.1-; m«rk,•d ''Pe,r,rmal", I wa-; urged to pub]i;:h it brr:,ui'e 
some pc•r~ons got to know that I had it but I refuse·! and endured a good deal 
of abuse. I am not making a grievance of that but I want your lordship to mr.ke 
a special finding 1n view of the grounds I am ::;tating. Suspicion was Rown in 
the public mind in rrgard to that file, there have been su!!"ge'>tion-; of suspicion 
before this tribunal regarding it-

_:'.\fr. LEE: No, no. 
Sir THOMAS ,YHITE: Well, I accept my learned friend's di::;claimer. N"ow 

I wn;;; going to Brazil la-,t February on a bm,ines, trip in connection with the 
Br.1Zilian Traction Company of which I am a Director, or p'lrtly for busine':ls and 
partly for a trip south. At that time no mention had bern made of this com­
mit',ion, in fart I undt>r,tood from a -tatement attributed to Mr. Fielding. or a 
report from Ottawa, tl:at no investigation would be held other than that which 
W:l" prorct~dine; in Toronto, the criminal pro~erutions. But I did know, or I 
thought I knew, that the matter would come up in Parliament, therefore before 
lraving for Rio de Janl'iro I had cop:e::; m:tde of nearly all the letters, I will 
not say the minor connecting letters, which I handed to my friend Hir Edward 

( Kemp in Toronto and a-;ketl Lim to make tbrm avai'.able to Parli .. unent in ~uch 
way as he saw fit. I think he gave copie,: to tLc Hon. Mr. Mrighen, because 
Mr. Meighen said in the Hou,.,e that he receiwd copies; I think I wrote ~fr. 
Meighen that they would be availablP, but I am not sure aR to that. 

When I returned and saw the difficulty that was apparently bei'hg made as 
t.o gl·tting this eviclenre, the way it was going in,-1 do not mgge~t by de,:ign on 
the part of counsel for the depositors,-but eviclence going in in a fragmenbry 
way, and c,aw it suggested that, "we may be able to get one or two of these 
letters from the Liquiaator-" when I had the wbole of them under my hand, 
I moved before your lordship, and your lordship at once saw the justice of 
my rcqut,,t, that in-,tead of having that evidence put in in that fragmentary 
fashion, I be allowed to present the file to your lordship in Toronto, although 
the henrings were to be here, and your lordship and counsel for the depositors 
and Mr. Lafleur readily consented, so I got the file before this tribunal and in 
the preH, something that I had been ab.,olutely unable to do since the attack 
upon me was commenced last Reptember. 

I made no idle statement when I said a little while ago that no man in 
Canada welcomed the appointment of this Commis~ion more than myself. Borne 
thought that file, would be a bombshell for me. Was it? Or was it for anyone 
ebe? I do not say the depositors' counsel, I do not say Mr. Lafleur or Mr. 
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Rymington, I do not say the Government. At any rate it wa,- not a bombshell 
for mP. I am going to ask your lord::;hip, did you ever see a file more in order 
or exhibiting a higher degree of attention to details? I know ::;omething about 
GovernmPnts and Governmental a<lm~nistration and I make this challenge, 
that there is not in the arrhives of the Government of Canada anv file more 
1·omplete or evidencing greater attention to official duty than those files, publir 
and private. Well may the counsrl for depo:;itor,-,, my ll'arnrd frien<l Mr. 
::\1cLaughlin, say ''I do not ;:ee how you found the time to do it all." Well, ::\fr. 
Commis:;ioner, I found the time for this and for similar ta::-k, during the war, 
at the co1-t of the lo"s of ten year's cavacity for heavy work which I otherwise 
would have been able "to do. It is very good of :\1.r. 1IcLauglin to say: "Be just 
to ~ir Thomaf' White on account of his war burden." I say, Mr. Commissioner, 
that I discharged my full duty to this country with re,;pet·t to the war and 
with re,;pect al~o to every (!ther matter to which it wa,; my official duty to attend 
while I was Mini,:ter of Finan re. I do not say that I did everything. in the 
b(•,-,t po,--1ble way; but I say that I gave them all my attention; the war and 
everything else; and I did it by working, as I have already teiltified to your 
1ord!'hip:- · 

Now, I ask your lorcl::lhip, thercfqre, with rC'gard to this private file, to 
find expre,-"IY t.hat, I dealt with it honestly and honourably, and in addition to 
that, as I am going to show your lord--hip, that I dealt with it according to 
constitutional u-iage. . 

There is a great deal of talk about the files; the private file; the public file; 
what should be done with the private file? No one se(•ms to have taken the 
trouble to look up the autboritirs and seP what ought to be done with a private 
file of private corrN,pondrnee. It i,- very easy to look it up and it i,; perfectly 
dear and well established usage. The highe,:t authority is Todd. I refer your 
lordship to Tod,l's Parliamentary Government in England, Revisrd Edition, 
by Hprnrrr Walpole, 1892, Vol. 2, page 133. 

"All publi1· officers are requirrd to leave behind them .. whrn they 
retire from offire, whatevcr publif' documents have c·ome into their po:-;­
:,;c.5,;ion durinµ; tlwir term of office, in onler that a complete hi::-tory of all 
public tram-action:,; may be prp..;erved in the arehiws of the Departmmt. 
Private letters, however, do not come within this rule, even though thry 
may exrlusively relate to affairs of t:-tate." 

"No ex-Mini;-:ter is at liberty to quote in Parliament from anv 
documen·t which he may have receiv<:d while in offil'e, unl<:,,- it has fir~t 
been m~de public by being laid brfore Parliament." 

That is. my quotation from Todd, the highc--t con~titutional authority witli 
regard to ParliamPntary Government, in the Empirr. The reason is obviou:,:, 
my lord. I need not say to you, not only a jurist of long ~tanding, but having 
oeeupied a high and di:-tinguished po--ition in the Oovernment of your Province 
-I necd not "ay to you what the rcason is. Thr rea,:on is, the public intere::;t. 
The real"on is, in order that the publi<· may privately eommunicate. to th,c 
.i\linistt-r information whi1·h may be of value to the ~tatr. The public would 
not do that if the priv:wy wa.;; to be violated by the ~1ini:-ter bringing down tltt' 

letters to Parliament, or publishing them in the newspapers. 
Now I ask your lord;-:hip, with regard to this printtP file, what more could 

J tlo than I did? Call the fik to the attrntion of my sueres,or, when returne<l 
to mr, not at my reque;;;t., although I may have been entitled to rcque,:t the 
rrturn of every ktt.er marked "private" in that file. When rrtunwd to me, 
although not requrstcd by ml·, although as I say I would have been entitled h 
request it, after the bank failed, I f'alll'd the file to the attention of the Attmney­
General of Ontario; I gave copies to Sir Edward Kemp who is a Senator, for the 
jnformation of Parliament. Do(•" any Counsel here rnggr:-:t anything different? 

a 
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I therefore a~k your lordship. for the sperial finding which I mrntioned a frw 
moments ago, that I acted honestly, honourably and correctly regarding that 
fill-. 

I a,,k your lordship to find Pxpre°'sly that my retainer in August la:-t., to 
which there is a reference on the record, was in the usual course of my profe:,,sional 
busin<'ss, and is irrelevant in this inquiry. That hus been admitted by Coun"d 
for the depositors and I think it will be admitted at once by my friend Mr 

• Lafleur, ac-ting for the Government. 
Mr. LAFLErR: I have said so already. 
Sir THOMAS "\VHITE: Yes. Now why do I ask for that ~pecial finding? 

Becaui:;e again an imputation has been made against me. Not made here. I am 
practising law for a living. I have not been 1linister. for five yeftrs. I am not a 
member of Par_liament. And yet this has been put out in such a way as ti, 
endeavour to injure me, and I might fairly ask whether I have a right to practi:-t• 
my profession or not? I know this is correct: in view of the way that statement 
was put out in certain of the pres,-, there are very many people in the Dominio11

0 of Canada tu-day, and information has c·0me to me about some, who believe that 
I received that retainer when I wa-, a Minister of the Crown; instead of having 
receiycd it more than four years after leaving Ottawa, and professionally. Mr. 
Commii,-,:ioner, that i:5. what I call hitting below the belt. If I were in Parliament 
I would not mind any of thel;e things a bit, because I would be in a position to 
nn,-;wer them; but a man in private life who is subjected to imputations rnch a,-; 
this, i,, like a man under bombardment in the trenchc:,; when he ha;,, not got the 
means of replying effectually. My po'3ition is similar to that, excf\pt by thC' 
goodwill of thC' pn·~--, the great body of the prC's,, in thi::; country on which I am 
happy to say I have alway:-, up to date', been able to rely. 

Now my lord, I c:ome to the tcnns of the Commission under which your 
lordship is holding this inquiry, and I am going to a"k your lord,,hip to give 
your dose attention to the Orderf! in Couneil, ::;ome portions of which I 'shall 
read; the first being the Order in Council of the 23rd February 1924, which 
refers to the petition of tre depositors. By that petition it is stated that in 1915, 
19l6 and 1918 "Representations were made to the Department of Finance ... 
re-.,pceting th•e condition of the Home Bank of Canada and revealing a state of 
affairs that would have justified an investig,ttion" by the Minister under section 
56A of the Bank Act. That is the allegation in the Order in Council. Then it 
goes- on to say: 

"The petition alleges" ''The then Minister of Finanl'e had mere[) 
referred the matter to Z. A. Lash, K.C.,"-"And that such invc,.:tigatjon 
as the latter made merely ,:moothed. things over." · 

The OrdC'r' in Council then goe,.: on to authorize the Commission to condue1; 
an inquiry and invP:-tigate among other things the following: Question Number 
2 is the only one I de:5ire to draw your lordship's attention to spC'rially. 

"(2) Whether, if such reprPsentations were made, a state of affair~ 
was revcalc>d concerning the condition of the said bank such as would have 
justified an investigation under the powers conferred upon the Minister 

of Finance by section 56A of the Bank Act." 
Now your lordship will observe that that first Order in Counril related only 

to representations made during the period when I wa:- Mini:oter. X ow I under­
btand that opinion both inside and outside of Parliament compelled, in justire 
to me, an exten,.:ion of that. I do not suggest for a moment, that the Government 
were not ready to extend it, when it was drawn to their attention that this was 
very unjust to me, and besides did not afford the srope for the inquiry that the 
public intere~t was deemed to demand; and consequently, by the Order in 
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Council of 17th March 1924, the scope waf: widened to the date of t lw failure 
of the bank: 

"Including any rrprr<l'Dbtions made to the Government of the day 
as to its condition, any action taken by way of the :'.\1inisters of Finance 
upon rnch representation"' as may have been ma(h\ :ind the f'f'f Pct on the 
pof'-ition of the depositors of any audit un<ler H,rtion 56A of the Bank Act 
if madr at any time in cnn,-rqucn<'e pf sueh npre::<rntatinns." 

Now I am going to ask your lordship to notice the differrrn e in the wording 
of that Order in Coun<'il with rrspect to the suujert of justification, and the 
Order in Coumil of the 23rd February, 1924. In the first Order in Couneil the 
invc,:t;gation j,, a;:; to ,, ·Jwthrr '·a i'tate of t:frair:- "11-1 reyc,akd concrrning the rnn­
dition of tlw :-'.tid bank such n,: svould have ju,tifird an inn-·tigatwn." In othrr 
word~, your lor<lship undn the first Order in Couneil is a:'krd to report on a 
que,-tion of juf'-tification. That fir-:t On!t·r in Coun<·il relate-; only to my rrgimr. 
Thr eernnd Order in Coun<'il ,;:1y-1: 

" Including any rcprcsentdions made t.o th't' Government of the 
<ky, as to it-, condition, any aetiou taken by way of the Ministers of 
Fmancc upon :-U('li reprc':'ent;:ition-- :1, may have been made, and the effect 
on the po:oition of the dcpili:,itors of any audit under :-cdion 56A of the' 
Bank A('t if made at :•ny time in con;;:equence of :-ud1 n·prc:-rntations." 

"\\ k.t i- YPUJ' l"rdship to find with rl'!! ml to C'vcrything alter 1918'> "\Vbi·tlwr 
r pn-l'ntatt,,n~ were marlr? And ,Yliat \\-,uld he thr po ition of dcpm-itPr::< if 
m·l(le at any time in eor1--<·quencr of sud1 n•prC'-l.'11tdinn"? Thr effect on i.hr 
pll.-ition of ,:'l' rl~pn:-do,:,; urnkr 56A of tbc H:mk Act? Now if an audit h:i-- b(•Pn 
made. vou are not a..;1-:rd under tl::.t, ...;ir, to pronounce on thc quc-tion of justifi<·a­
tion. It will be not:cc1l that in those two Orders in Council the Commi,-,iionl'r is 
to fincl as to juc<ti:icatwn, only with n ~pvct t•i the y£•ar" 1915, 1916 and 1918. 
Tnr.t j,- to ,say you are to find it while I "-,i- l\ I ini ,tPr, but not tu prnnouneP nn it 
in tlw rn~l' of my sueecs:-ors. Now with all due respect I submit.-and I am 
going to argue lutvr the qurst:on of whether your lord..,hip ha:,, juri~1liction-th:1.t 
if yuur lordA1ip m:ikr-1 a fin, ';,1g on tl:r ju-:tifil'ation nrn.t.f.l'r with rt"~Jwd to my 
regime, and not a,; to that of tl-e ot!wrs, it sPrms to me to be a gro~-: unfairnef's to 
my:,,elf. Xow let us try if we <'an rreoncile thc::-c Ordrr,-, in Council. If it was in­
tended to be fair, the ,;prond Ordl0 r in Comwil mu:,;_t be dC'emed to mC'rge the firi::t. 
There is no other way. They cunn'lt be rreoncilcd. Thl" _;;erond Or<lPr in Council 
mu:-at be deemerl tu mergP the fir.4. I do not rnggl':-t tLat your lordship read it 
that way. I \\ould rath~r, if you.r lordship is going to find on the que-,tion of 
ju,-tification, aftrr I submit mv ti' '"·mm nt. that you trrnt the "l'<'ond m- meaning 
the same a-: the first. But taking them as they ,;i.and, the ,econd Order in Coun­
cil must, be deemed to rnrrge the first, the force of which had gone. If this is 
:oound, then your lord:=:hip is not to find on tLe qur:::tion of ju"tifiration for an 
audit, but only as to whether any rPpref'cntation-.: were made to '\Tini,ter;;;, and 
what ,vould be the effed upun dcpo'-itors if an audit under 56A had been made. 
Any reprefientat\ons, you arc to finrl, whrther important or unimpnri ant. It 
seem.: to me that another OrclPr in Council i~ needed. Now the Order in Coun­
cil of the 27th February appointing your lord,.liip n;;: Commi:o-ionl'r, givrs your 
lordship di-,nrtion. 

'·"\re hC'reby require and dirrd our :'ai11 Commio:::<ionrr to rrport to our 
Covernnr-Gem•ral-in-Council thr rP,11lt of hi,: inn:-tig.1tiun tngrther with 
thC' evidrncc taken bdore him and any opinion he may ::<re fit to expre"S 
th·rcon." 

?\ow that gives your lordship discretion as t.o tlw cxtrnt to which you will 
expres~ your opinion. Your attention is ralle, l in that to the two Orders in 
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Council and you are to investigate "as by said Orders authorized and provided." 
That is the expression. That is to rn:v, you are to investigate according to 
the letter and ml•aning of thoi3c two Orders in Council, as to whether there 
was justification or not during my regime for an Order under 561\ and not as 
to whether there was justification under the second Order in Council. In oth~r 
words, this is the _Position, as they stand; your lordship cannot deal with the 
question of justification for 1919,' 1920, 1921, 1922 and 1923, and you need not 
deal with it for 1916 and 1918 unlef's your lordship sees fit; and I submit 
that if your lordship, after my argument, decides to pronounce upon it, that 
a nrw Order in Council is necessary to enable you to pass upon the question of 
justification for an audit if any repre<;enbtions were made during the in­
cumbency of office of my two successors, Sir Henry Drayton and the Rt. Hon. 
Mr. Fielrling. 

Now, my lord, I propo"e to deal with a matter which I raised at the out­
set, and I regard it an extremely important mattl--r. I waived any objection 
that I might have taken to your lordship hearing the evidence, and I presented 
my te.-itimony before your lordship, because I recognized that it was in the 
public intere:-t that all possible information should be obtained; and I am 
very glad to have obsern--d, :t'3 I would have expected in an inquiry of this 
sort before your lordf-hip, that with reswct to the testimony which has been 
given here your lord,;hip has not confined it within the limits of those strict 
rules of evidence which nece,,,arily prevail in Courts of Justice; your lordship 
has recognized that this matter is of general intere"t throughout the Dominion; 
your lordship has recognized that another tribunal than this tribunal is passing 
judgment upon the evidence contained in the record; and that tribunal, the 
tribunal of public opinion, is the tribunal of final appeal in all matter::; re­
lating to public affairs. Th(~rdore, I did not pres:; my objection at the time 
but proceeded with my evidence. 

I am going to ask your lordship now for another finding; this will be 
Number 4. I a<ok your lord:;hip to find that that part of the Order in Council 
of February 23rd, 1924, which authorizrs your lordship to report whether an 
invt.:;tigation would have been justified following representations to the De­
partment in 1916, and 1918, is ultra vires of the executive Government of 
Canada and wholly null and void. I do not say for a moment that the 
_whole Order in '.Council is null and void. It is not. I; oonfine my obj.ection 
to the point that I am raising and I repeat it; that that part of the Order in 
Council which uut horizes your lordship to report whether an investigation 
would have been justified following the reprrsrntations to the Department in 
1916, and HHS is ultra virr:-- of the execq,tive Governmrnt of C..1nada and wholly 
·null and void. The Commission is ;.tated on the face of the Order in Council 
to be in pursuance of th.e authority of the Inquiries Act, and tor the· purpose 
of my argument I do not care w!tether it is under the Inquiries Act or a Royal 
Commis.,ion' in the old sense, my argument holds good, as I contend. Xow the 
Inquirie-, Act givrs authority for the Commission to inquire and report upon 
facki. It also, by one of its amendments- if I recall it correctly-enables a 
Commis:,ioner to report as to the conduct of a member of the inside or outside 
Civil Service. A 11:inister is not a_ member of the inside or outside Civil 
Service. He is a Minister of the Crown; ref'ponsible only to Parliament under 
our Con:,titution. Whether the empJoyment of an auditor was justified or not, 
is, I contend, for the Minister, to decide in the exercise of his own judgment· 
and as long as that judgment is honest-that is the qualification-the ~ini'!lte; 
is respon,;ible only to Parliament and to no other tribunal whatever. I have 
established that from the authorities. 

In a case of tort .or crime, the Minister is responsible like any other 
citizen, to the Courts of the land; but he is not respon~ible in the honest exer-
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eis0 of his funrtions a~ ::\:Iini,..;trr tn any tribunal on eart,h exrf'pt to the parlia­
ment of Canada. Now I do not propo,.:e to W1<lertake a ctiscu::;:cion of e!Pmt·ntary 
Constitutional law. I shall merely refer your lorct~hip again to Todd',; Parlia­
m<'ntary GovernmPnt in England, whirb i,,; the uuthoritv. The revi,.:e<l Edition 

I • 
by Spencer Walpole, 1892, YoL 2, page 185. And I quote: 

''Every Minister is direetly re"ponsible to Parliamrnt for hi,: conduct 
in offire and for the a<lYi!'e he tenders to hi,; Sovereign, but he is rel'pon-:­
ible to no other tribunal." 

., 
And I have no doubt at all that that does not come al'- a ~urpri,-1e ·to your 

lor<l"hip, haY~ng been as you were, Attorney General of the Provine(' of New 
Brunswick. 

Now !Pt me read ,::ection 56A of the Bank Art, as to what thi,- audit i:;, a-. l 
to which your lord:;hip is a-,k<;d to find ju,-,ti_fieation. The Bank Act nf 1913 
Hrction 56A. We have he:lrd thb talkrd about ,-o murh, but I think W-l' had 
bcttrr see what the Statute :;;ays. Section 56 refrr,: to the duties of auditor-: 
and their re-..pon,.;ibilitie-... RC'rtion 56A is as follow><: 

"The Mini,:ter may dircrt and requirt' any auditor appointed undrr 
the next preeeding -r<·tion of thi:,; Art, or any other auditor whom he 
may select,"-an alt<'rnative-"to examine and inquire ,..;perially into 
any of the affairs or busine,;:s; of the bank, and the auditor so appointed 
or selected, as the case may be, shall, at the <'onrlusion of hi;; examina-
tion and inquiry, report fully to the lHini--ter the results thereof." a 

While I an;i at it I will turn up SeC'tion 113, whirh is the otbPr :;:ertion und(•r 
which I acted in the Home Bank matt<'f. This i~ the .old Act: 

"The l\linistcr may also call for :;:pecial returns from any bank, 
whenever, in ·his judgment, they are nec1•,-..;ary to afford a full and com­
plete knowledge of its condition:" 

That is what they :;i.re doing now, testified to before the B:,mking und Com­
merce Committee:; calling for special returns. 

Now l submit with very grc>at resp('ct-1 ,:hould not lilrn your lord~hip 111o 

to think for a moment that I have any idea in my mind that if your lordship 
addrc::;..;P<l youn,elf to this subjert that I would qucstion in any way ~our 
lordship'~ finding. I am simply submitting this as Couru;;rl on my own behalf 
and I am sure your lord,-hip will "o under:;tand it. 

Bi,, LoRDWIP: Oh, thoroughly, Sir Thomas. 
f:-\ir THOMAS ·WHITE: I rubmit that for your lor<l:ahip to fin<l whether tlu~ 

appointment of an auditor under 56A was justified, is to review th<' ronduct of 
the Minister. The MinistPr would only take surh al'tion as he det>mPd himself 
ju..;;tified in taking. .Justification is for the Minister. Shall I ad? How i:;hall 
I act? The onlv tribunal that 1·an revi<:w that artion of hi", if honest-and 
the honesty of my .action has not been question here-is Parliament. And I 
;re:;pec;tiully, sir, enter an objerhon to any effett bring given to an Ordcr in 
Council which on its face oust;:; the jurisdirtion of Parliament. l object fir;1t 
as a citzen, having re)!ard to the well known rule,; and u.sages of the• Constitµ­
tion; and secondly, because I regaL'd it as an inva,-ion of the ri!(hb of the Min­
ister, under our Con,;titutional svstem. Lct us see where this learfa. A~ I 
have :;;aid, I 1-ubmit that it i.; not competent for your lordship to find upon the 
qQ.estion of jtL.;;tifiration, :;tnd subRitute your jurlinnent for that of the Minktn, 
because that is what you arc asked to do. Look at the ,situafom. I use- thl' 
name of the Hon. Mr. Fit>lding-for w:hom I b::ivP the grPatP<st pos:-ible re,:;peet, 
-only becau~P he happen" t-0 be the present :\1inister of Finanec. I w:3,nt to 
sh~w just bow abf:'urd this is. Supposing that second Order in Council 1s 
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~or11ft't and that it would include him and Sir Henry Drayton, then your lord­
ship is to pronounce upon the question whether the Rt. Hon. l\Ir. Fielding 
received any representations, and whether there wa~ ju;:;tification for his not 
taking executive a:cti.on under 56A of the Bank Art, if he did not. Yet, at thi.; 
moment that your lordship is asked to pass upon that, the Rt. Hon. Mr. Field­
ing is directly rec:ponsible to Parliament for the ext>rutive a<'tion which he took 
or refrained from taking, if he .received any repre:;;entation. It surely cannot 
he contended that this Commission is t-0 oust the jurisdiction of Parliament. 
in rriticising the rondurt of Mr. Fielding? It woulrl violate and outrage every 
c;ense o,f elementary justirc that a man should at the same time .be under trial 
in two tribunals. There may be at any time a debate in Parliament with regard 
to Mr. Fielding's a1,tion. He is re'-ponsible to Parliament, and under the 
Inquiries Act there is no power to ouFt the jurisdiction of Parliament. l;, 
Parliament to pronounce one judgment on the Rt. Hon. Mr. Fielding, and th;._ 
Commission another? 

Similarly, Sir Henry Drayton and myself were and are subject to criticism 
in Parliament for our action as Finanre Minister but we are not answerable 
to any tribunal what..,oever exrcpting Parliament. 

Now further, let us see what Todd says about a Commis;;:ion of Inquiry 
and as. to the general principle:-; •which i:hould govern its appointment. In Yul. 
2 (•f the sam!:' <'dition at pages 95 and 96: 

"A Commi,,.;ion of Inquiry should be limitPd in it:a operations tu 
obtaining information and suggesting pointf' as to which it might be 
expedient that legislation or exerutive action should be t:iken. N'o Com­
mi-;"ion should be invitPd to enter upon any question of policy, lest it 
Phould treneh upon"the proper limits of l\linisterial responsibility and upon 
ground whirh belong,:: to Parliament." · 

The Minister had a polif'y at the time with regard to doing this, or doing 
that;, and Todd says, no Commission c;hould be invited to enter upon any que,:­
tion, of J?Olicy. · 

Now I am going to ask your lordship. to look at the absurdity of a con­
trary view to that which I am putting for¥.:ard. The calling of Parlia,ment is 
an exPcutiYe act. What \\ould be thought of the appointment of a Com­
mission to determine whether the Prime Mini;;:ter of Canada was justified in 
calling Parliament in February instead of in ,January? One has only to, statl' 0 

it. Whut would be thought if a Commission were apponited to deride whether 
thrre was justification for the appointment of a judge on the recommendation 
of a.Minister of Justice? ·Or what would one think of a Commission appointed 
for the- purpose of pronounrinµ; on the justifiratiorr for the appointment of 
this Commission. Or take ::;edion 99~2 of the Bank Act, a~ a practie~•d 
ill~tration. S'ection 99-2 of the Bank Art relatps to the purchase of the asset~ 
of one hank by anot.her bank. The section is: 

I 

"t2} No agreement by a bank to ,-ell the )¥hole or any portion 
of its assets to another bank f'hall be made unle':is and until the Minister. 
in writing, eonsPnts that an agreement under subsel't:on l of thi~ 
scdion may h€ entered into between the two bank;.:." 

The Minister has to give his consent. Now what would your lordship 
think of the appointment of a Commission a:5 to whether ,the Minist.er was 
juf.:tified in giving his c;onsent to the purchase of the :u•seb: of one bank by 
another b:.tnk? Let me give a more striking case still.. I do not wish to labour 
this unduly, but what would they think, let us say in England, if a Qom­
mi'ision were appointrd for the purpose of expressing an opinion on whether 
Sir Edward Grey just before the outbreak of the· war should have sent a firm 
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Note to Germany slitting that in the event of war Great Britain would at 
onre entPr upon the -,ide of Frurn·e and Ru-oia.- That was an exerutive Act, 
and Sir Edward Grev ha"l bP<"n murh eritirized. But I wonder what they would 
think of the appoi~tment of a Commis~ion for that purpose. An executive 
Act; he aetcd honestly. Everything, I my to your lord~hip i:s po,,tulated on 
the us~umption that the :'.\Iini:;trr arts honestly. If he doe:s not act hone,,tly, 
he is :,,ubjcct to the Court-; of the }and, as he ought to be, like anybody eJ-,e. 
But as long a,- the l\Iinister i,., acting hunc-;tly, no tribunal on earth excc•pt 
Parliament, I submit, can review hi~ com:uct in that regard. 

J\ow, with very great respect-and I :-tre,-, thi:s because no one could have 
greater rC'<;pect for the judgment of your l!mh-hip than I have-any finding 
of your lord~hip on the que:::tion of ju,;tification, wlii<"h i,.; rderred to your 
lordship for inw-t;ption under that fir:st Order-in-Counl'il. must, I submit, 
be devoid of any jur:lirial force because the inherent juri:;:rlirtion i-; lacking. , 
It cannot have judieial jurif;dirtion; it can only be an exprr<;sion of your 
individual vie,v; w:ir.t you think you \YOuld have donC', ;;ir, if you had bPc•n 
Mini~tt•r; or what you think somebody el:-e ,\uuld have done if he had bcpn 
Mini:;:tcr. Dor,,-, our Con-,.titutional system a:,;rnme that all :'.\1.inist.crs of Finance 
are prPciscly a'l.ike, in temperament and in experience? This i,; not a case of 
th0 ordinary man and or1 '.:nary diligence and ordinary j udg:ment und ordinary 
,,u,piC'iun. It i:s the quf'stion of a :'\Iini,,t,er of the Crown ronfronting a situation, 
,-u('h :..:- confronted me, and .duding with that situation honC':,:tly and to the 
be;;t of hi,-. judgment at the time. Now your lordship's .opinion-with tlw 
greatc-;t possible rv~peet-can only be a private opinion, I :mbmit, expre,-sed 
in t.he light of ,:mb,-t•quput c, !'nts, and that i:s all. 

Now I am going to submit to your lurdship wry re-;pc.:ctfully that you should 
not express a personal opinion; if -I am rip:ht in my argurnrnt and your opinion 
r,annot carry judi('ial m·ight, you should· not exprr~s a prrsunal opinion. Why? 
\Vr have had a irreat de:11 of e\'idence l:cre a;; to conditions during the war; but, 
,;ir, if my learned friend the Coun,,rl for the depositors and the Coun~f'l for the 
Government ha,l pi!Gd Pelion upon o~~:1. in the ~hupe of evidenre and Olympus 
upon both, your lord,hip <"ould not make that pa:-t to live again in this' room. 
It is impo,..;ible. Call a mrrting of the Coun::;el of the Dominion, or of the 
.Judgt~s of tbe Dominion, and tC'll me that by means of evidenrc presrnted at 
a time like thi,., you can give a picture of that trrmrndous eporh in our hi,;tory 
and in the history of the war, ::;o that your lonl~hip ·or any other Judge would 
br able to live in that atmosphere and deal with quc~tion-, a-1 tlie 1\Iini-,tPr of the 
day rknlt w:1h them? It j,.. impo,sible; absolutely impo:-sible. ~fy honourable 
friend :'.\Ir. McLaughlin-I should say my lP:unecl friPDd, although no doubt he 
will some day be my honourable frirnd-spraks of ".,upPrmen ;" he would be a 
superman indeed who could vi~uali:,r> that past and entC'r fully into it at a time 
surh as thi,;. I rnbmit, :;:ir, that it is impus,iblP for you to place yourself 
in thP pa:-t, in the plarr of mysrlf or of the otlwr Ministers concrrnerl, and sec 
the situation in \\ hirh they a1·tC'd, as it appeared to them at the time. The Act 
says that the Ministrr "may" and one ~fini:-tC'r miq be arting in more difficult 
times than another. The disrretion is thr di--rrction of the Ministrr and of 
no other individual what~never under the Act, if it is hone,.,tly exerrisrd. I 
p:ct buck to that word "hunestly," Mr. l\IcLaughlin. It is a grrat word, if it' 
j,, ronestly rxrrri~ed. 

Mr. l\fcLxcGHLIN: I have never que>'tioned your honesty, Air Thoma:a. 
Sir THOMAS WHITE: I know that. You are a decent man, Mr. McLaughlin, 

I have known that all my life. 
I ask your lorcl,hip to find that exprl',-;;ing [th opinion on justification is to 

pass upon thl' c-onrh!et of ::Vlini-,t,er::,, and that surh rl'view on :rour part i:s not 

' 
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within the Inquir;eF- Act and is contrary to the well known usages of ronstitutional 
law.• 

Your lord-:hip may find facts and report. That is the purport of the In­
quirief' Act. If the Bank Act had ::mid that if certain repre:sent..1tion:5 are made 
by letter, or othcnvise; the Mini:,ter shall do somPthing, why, then, your lord­
ship rould find whether the reprr'-entations were made, and whether the Minister 
did that thing, and if he did not, why, I think, he would. be rnbject to a good 
dral of criticism by Parliament. 

That is not the ca:;e here at all. 
~ow, then, my learned friend, Mr. McLaughlin, put forward that word 

",:hall" is never u::-cd in regard to the Crown. I knew at the time when I was 
in the box that he wa,, wrnng. Of course, a man in the box is. subject to the 
<1•Htrol of his crosf'-examincr, and I did not raise the question, but I have taken 
the trouble to look it up, and I would point out to your lordship that the i:-tatr­
mPDt is inrorrrrt-, and I am going to give your lordship the references in the 
Art. 

I would refer your lordship to Scrtion 15, subf'ertion 3: 
•· No crrtificate 3hall be given by the Trcarnry Bonrd until it ha:, been 

~hmm to the i:-at::-,fartion of the Board, by affi.iaYit or otherwise, that all 
the n·quiremcnL, of this Act and of the «pecinl Ad of incorporatiln of t-Iw 
bank. a,; to the ;;:ub,:criptions to the 1•:,piLtl ,,t,J('k, the paymrnt of rn,,ncy 
l,y ,;ubi<criber:3 on acc·ount of thl'ir :-ubscription,;, the payment required to 
Le marle to the :'.\1ini~tcr, the election of directors, deposit for ,;erurity of 
nntP i,::,t\c. or other preliminaries, have been complied with, arl'i tliat the 
sum so p..1,id i,: then held by the Mini~ter, and unle,:,; it appcat'i to the 
Board that the expen,,cs of incorporation and org:mization arc n·ason­
able." 

It would he perfectly proper for your lord:-;hip, if a ra!"e aro:-r under that 
,;('d,ion, to ,-ay wh<'tl,pr the condition had bren satisfied. If your 1orrJ,-hip smd 
t ht• < nrnlition had not been satisfied and the 'frea:-'ury Board had given a certifi­
rnt.c·, it would have bccn1acting: in contravention of this Act. 

Take the next one, ~ection 17 of the Bank Act of 1913:. 
'Tpon the i,-•,me of :'1e ccrtifiuite in manner hereinbcforc provided . 

. the Mini:;tn ,-hall forthwith pay to thP bank the amount of money :,o dr­
po,-ited with him as afore::;aid" etc., etc. 

Then ~crtion 61, subsection 8: 
· " The :'.\Iini~tt·r :-hall, from time to time, and not less frequently than 
twice in each year, cause nn inspection and aud'.t of the 1irold coin and 
Dominion note,; held by the trustees to bl' made by officer,, of the De­
partmPnt of .Finance." 

Now, your lordship could find whether the J'viini:-ter had done that and report. 
If he had not done it his action would be a contravention of thr Statutr. 

There arc two or thrrc others that r•wil,l give later, I have not fke references 
at the moment. However, I think I have given enough. 

Under Section 56A, and under Section 113 of the Bank Act, the word is 
"may." 

Then I romc to the Petition. · Kaw, there are some errors in that Petition, 
not intentional err.ors. 

Mr. McLAl:GHLIN: The facts are take!). from your statement to the Press. 
8ir TnoMA'l WHITE: At that time, I explained, :'.\fr. 1\IcLaughlin, that I had 

not the public file. 
Mr. McLAUGHLIN: You stated in that that you referred the matter to 

Mr. Lash. 
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Sir Tno:vi:As WmTE: Thut was my memory, but it was not ~o when I gut tlic 
public· file. 

The Order in Counl'il ~tatc,- that in the rnur::;e of the;;r arguments it wa" 
statrd that instead of ordering an audit under Section 56A of the Bank At't, the 
then Minister of Fina.nee had merely referred the mattev to Z. A. Lash, K.C. 
That i._ untrue, ant~ I have explained why, I do not ~ay it is untruthful. Tlwrl' i:­
a diffrrenee bdwPen untruthiul and untrue. 

l\lr. :\IcLArGHLil\': We took it all from your own statement. 
~ir THo~IAs WHITE: That may be, but, at the ,oame time I did nut have that. 

document before ID<', and I wa~ trying to recall right ~·ear,; before. 
The Petition 1-tates: 

''Your petitioners reafize the seriou-.:ne:-s of sueh adion on the part 
of the ".\Iini~ter of Finance-" 

That is, to make an audit under 8ection 56A. 
That paragraph in the Petition reads: 

"Your petitionrrs rralize the :,rriousness of such a1·tion on the part 
of the ".\iinistPr of Finance, and that the nwre fact of cau,-ing an audit 
to be made might in itself bring about the failure of the said Bank." 

Thi,-, statement is true on the PPtition before your lordf'hip, the Pleadings, 
:-o to t-peak. That is stating, what I believP to be absolutely true. It would 
be a very srriou~ thing to do for fear of bringing down the bank. 

I have not been able to adduce any evidence here, your lord,-hip, in fact, 
I have not had the time nor the monry to produce evidence here, but I hope 
your lordship has not got the idea that I cannot produce bankers to give evi­
deuce as to what the effect would be to put an auditor into an individual 
bank. 

The Petition statPs that thl' depo,-itors were lurgrly of the opinion that 
the Finance Department of the Government of Canada exerrised such super­
vif'ion over <·bartered banks that it was impossible for depo;;itors to lose their 
savings entrustPd to a bank. This eannot be correct, your lord,;hip, beeau:-1• 
bank,; have frequently failed in Canada, as el~cwr1ere. \ Counsel for tbl' <lcpo"­
itors have a~ked me "\Yhat is the Department of Finance for except to super­
vi:-e the banks?" We are living under a limited Governmmt, limited by law. 
No l\1inister of Finance has any general powers of supcrYision over banks. 
Where would that lead to? 

Mr. LEE: Wh<>re it is given to you under the Act. 
Sir THOMAS \VHITE: .Ye-,, l'Xl'ept where it is giyen to me under the Act. 

Mr. Lee says, ,"What is the Finance DPpartment for if not to supervise t,hP 
banks and thPir business?" We have got some of the larwst banks ip the 
world in Canada, with hundreds and hundred,- of million,; of dollars of asseb, 
with thoul'land;- of bran<'hes extending over all this Dominion, in the l;nitcd 
States in the West Indie,;, in South America, in Great Britain, in France. and 
in _A,:ia. fom: Continents. General sup~vision over all tho:::e banks w.ould bP 
no rasy matter. 

We have heard a good deal in recent years about the increa;,e in function:­
of Government, but it has not gone quill' as far as that yet. If it does, to usP 
a familiar expre:::sion, "It will be some job." 

~Ir. REID: ~upervi::!ion of head offices. 
Sir THOMAS Wn1TE: I will come to that. I nenr ma<fo a ;.pet·<.:h inc my 

life in, which I did not try to be ron.,,tructive. There is no general ,:upcrvision, 
and thrre cannot be general supervision, giving that expression its natural 
meaning, in the same way that a, chid executive exercise:- rnpervi::ion ov.er the 
businr--s of a company. · 

Take Section 19, your lordship, of the Bank Art. This is a point that I 
wish, particularly, to draw ti'.> your lordship's attention. By that section, the 
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affairs and busines:i, of bank,; are entrusted to Boards of Directors elect{,'({ by ,:harehold<>r::; whose capital h, at stake and who are subject to double liability. They are proprietors inviting deposits upon the credit of the bank. They must lo~e all before the depositors can lo"e any, and lose more thnn all, that is, :i.Il thrir capital with the addition of the double liability. Now, that is one main safrguard to depositors, and another ,,afeguard to shareholders and depos­
itors alike is the ability and integrity of Directors and the officers they select. 
The Director1-; are the agents of the shareholders, and the Directors employ the offict'rs of the bank. That is the situatiort. And auditors are appointed by the 
l"hareholder,; under the Bank Act. 

I introduced the legislation making that compulsory, Mr. Commissioner, in 1913, and we followed the English sy:,tem, the system that wa'l then in 
vogue, and the system that i5 in vogue to-day, and I thought we had made a great advance, and I still think we did, although I have been di::;appointed, to a ( crtain extent. 

The other day, in giving my evidenee, I said I had not a great deal of ,·unfidencl' in auditors. That was a grnNal 4atemrnt. Some auditors are abler than otlwrs, but what I had in mind at that time was that an auditor 
was not an appraisrr, he was more an accountant, a man who had checked the ea~h and the entrie,; in the books, and, in that way, would sec that a. true balance sheet was presented, and, of course, if anything comes to his attention that sugge:;:t,; fraud, or anything like that, why, he is bound to inquire into it, becau<Se then his balance sheet would not be a t.ruc balan~e sheet of the affairs of the rompany, or bank, a~ the case may be. 

For morr than twenty years the matter of bank in:::pertion ~as been before Parliament. The rea::;on I mention that, your lordship, is that I want you to realize dearly the power:; or discretion which the Minister had under the Act of that time, and the limited character of the supervision which has been ;:;poken of as general. 
For more than twenty yc,trs the matkr of bank inspeetion has bern before 

Parliament. All GoYrrnment." have aYoided it bec.ause of the responsibility it would ea:=-t upon them. The timr has come when some mearnre of Government 
in,.;pection must be instituted. I am using the word "inspcrtion" in contra­distinction to "audit." But under the Act of 1913-and I can say that Parlia­ml'Dt is now considering that very question-and the Act of 1923, no such provi~ion is made. Even in the Act of last year no rnrh provision is made. Whrn I was Minister there was no power of general supervision or inspection. 

Now, there is. a further limited, very limited safeguard, the returns to the 
Government. They are protected by VPry severe penalties against false return:.;. The returns all contain general items shov,ing aggregate<; not details. If the return on it1, face shows no irregularity then it is accepted as correct. 
If for any reason the :'.\1inister is dissatisfied with the return, or receives any information which causes him to doubt its correctness, he may do one or more of three things. He may call for a special return from the Board (sanction of hravy penaltir:;;); call for a rPport from the Auditor appointed by the share­holders under the provbion of thr Act, proterted by the sanction of very htravy penaltie"; or ask an oubide auditor to report upon any matter. He also is subject to penalties. 

l\len ,;::1y, why are you suppo,;ed to rely on the return of a Board of Direc­
tors well, protected by the heavieset penalties for fabe returns. Now, as I say, the l\linister may do any one of tho:-e three things, and the diseretion o.f the Mini~trr as to what he will do is absolute not conditioned. 

The Statute docs not say that if he receivr'l a letter complaining of a return he shall do this or do that. It is for the Minister to decide whether he will do this or that or do nothing. It depends on the letter, and even then it i-i his judgment as to what should be done that governs him. Letters are con-
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stantly received where nothinµ, is done. I do not want to over:::tate it, but thne 
arc a dozen-I wa::l going to ;:ay twenty-lf·ttcr,; on rernrd in the Department 
of Finanre, ,:ome of them very strong lettern. There may be a quarrel, there 
may be spite, there may Le a general conel?rn aLout an institution. The Min­
i,-tcr has to p,;timate tho,;r let.tern a,; he,-t lw may and decide what he will do. He 
ha,- got a good deal of c·xprrirnrc to guide him in tho,p, matter::l. Usually thr 
Board is askPd fur a >'Lltement in an,,wrr. Previous to 1916 no tipcl'i:11 audn,or 
wa,- rver put into a hanl- in Canada. I say 1916 bl'rau'-'e that i:,; the time that 
this eame, and I Lave said the Mini..,tcr ha-; no gPnera, powPr of -;upc'rvi,;ion, 
he i.;; limit.PJ in his dutit•-; anrl di,:crrtion under the Statuk 

I "'::;: asked the other day what my conception of the duty of a ~Iinister 
w :~f;, and I gave it offl.und, and I am rather pleased with it. As a matter of 
fort, tho"'e offhand judgment-; are usually good. Hi,, duty is to art hone:::tly 
and a1·1·, ,rding to hi>' Lrst judgment, and when he has done that Lt, has dis- l 
rhargrd hi-, duty. I :::tand by that, that wa:o my an,wcr. No tribunal exreµt 

Pnliamrnt can revil'w his ar-tion when he ha:s so acted hone,:;tly an,: td the bP--t 
of his judgment. 

Ju-;t, a wurd or two more about aurlitor;.;. I was asked "Why didn't you 
prrss further for the report of !\Ir. :::--ydnc,v Jones, Auditor of the Bank?'' Can 
an aurl:tor value timber limit-, 't Tl:c owner Llol''> not know what they are worth, 
he ha.:: got hi,-; own idea about them. All he can do is r~timate them as fairly 
as he r:.in on thr opinion of l'rui:-cr:-, and having rC'~ard to the con<.!iLon,; at the 
time, rnppo::'in,2; he had Rent l\1r. Svrlrn·y Junr,: out to make an invrstigation of 
tl1c limit-;, sent him out a-- Mr. Crerar went out, and a-; :\Ir. Hant>y w,"nt out. 
Do the auditmj of banks to-clay value a,:.;;et~? Thc:y do 11ot. They call it to 
tl-,e attmtion or the Boar, l if there is anyt Lng faat utt::-J.rts tr.eir inkre<:t parti­
cularly, and umln tlie new Al't the Board, if the Auditor has callrd the acl'ount 
to thl'ir attention, r:.tn declare that it is inadiYe and not active. The rrc;pon~i­
bility unclPr the new Act is clc-,trly on thr Board. It rc('()p.uize 0 that the> Aw1J,0r 

is not the .-uprcme pmver in the bank for tlte purpoc'e of valuinf:: :,el'uritit "'· He 
woulrl have quitP a job if he dia. 

Kow, tlwn, brtwcen ttndit •ftnd in"P"' tion, t.,,e difference is that inspc~tion 
impli"s a valuation, in my juugmrnt,. endC'r the Ameril't'!l systrm the insp£et.or 
doc.; that valuing. He says to a bank "You l'annot add intert .:st thrri· any 
l0n~Pr," only be, UU¢P hr has got the power. It is a question of valuing, whrthcr 
intcre.;t ,.;hould be added or not. As I pointe,l out in my evidrnre, t11ere come,, 
a 4ur::'tion as to whether intcre,:;t d10uld be added or nut. Kow, a banker can \ 
do that work. -

::\Ir. Commi~-,ionf>r, during my period of office I did much for auclitors, 
busim•..,., profit, and other me:1'iures, and I wi>oh to rny they perform rxcEedingly 
valuaLk functiom,. Some, as I hum f-.aid, are bett"r than others, widPr ex­
perien, e, older men, you rannot generalize. 

:Now, tal.e the ca:::e of the Merchants Bank. One of thr greut .. ,,t firms in 
the world wa:;, auditor of that bank, and cletectfcl nothing. The auditor of the 
Home Bank, a wry rrspectable man,-1 think he is a Bursar of Trinity College 
-detected nothing. He wati on the panel of men named competent by the 
Canadian Banker:,' As:::ociation to audit banks. 

Here i:, the curious thing, as I have read over the evidence of Mr. Clarkson 
and ::vlr. Edwards, both very able men. Auditors will come with the greatest 
ac:surance after the collapse of a bank and say "Why, I would not have allowed 

tl1J.t valuation of a timber limit or that of the liability of a tru:::t company. I 
would have inRisted on writing them down, and the same would apply to an 
account like Pellatt'i,. Pellatt had arcounts in no end of financial institutions, 
and wa:i in good credit in the City of Toronto, and I doubt if any question 
was ever rait:ied about him. 

I think that this bank had an altogether undue proportion of non-liquid 
as-ietR. I am merely stating to your lordsh_ip that a4ditors, like other people-
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and there are some of them in this room, not your lordship-have what I c:111 
retrospective imagination. What do auditors do in cases of t.hi-, kind? Now, 
Mr. Haney wa~ a contractor, and Mr. Crerar was an ab1e business man, and 
they were appointed a committee of the Board to go to Briti::ih Columbia and 
pronounce upon the value of a timber limit. I am ju.;t as certain as I am 
looking at your lord~l,ip this minute that nine auditor$ out of ten, yes, more than 
that, ninety-nine out of a hundred looking at tkit acrount and ;;rcing that report 
of Messn,. Crerar and Haney, Crerar an absolutely Lonebt man, and an able 
man, and Haney, there is nothing here that show.;, except the LOrre:opondence 
::;ugge:-ts, that an_ybo<ly threw any doubt upon Mr. Haney. 

What would your lord~hip think of a doctor turning up at an autopsy 
where tllere ,w .. ~ more or Ir,, ob ;cure doubt a~ to the -;;ituation among the med­
ical practitioner and hi::i con,ultant or consultant~. and this doctor comes in 
and, he sec:; the result,; di::,c]o.;cd by the autopsy. \Yhy, he says if I had been 
called in, thr;.;c ~ympt-Jms that appeared ob~cure to my fellow practitioners I 
would have diagno,:,ed as eanrer. The rctro::ipective imagination. It is nice to 
look at the after event. 

l\lPn, including auditors, n•adily persuade them~elve,; that they would have 
done this or the other which tiwy never would in fact have done. Why Mr. 
Commissioner, thrrc are pe0ple to-day who have pPrrnaded them~elveg that 
thry rould have told at the t:me that Admiral Jellicoe should have taken the 
turn to the right instead of the ldt at the BE.tt :e of Jutland, and have hon<''itly 
persuaded themselwci th.Lt if they had been there aml t ontrolled the helm;; of 
that fleet the turn would have been made differrntly. They are plenty of 
people like that, and they think it manifest that Jelliroe did not know his busi­
ness. TnPy e.t'.l those people "wi~eacres". I looked it up in the dictionary the 
other day. A wi~r.tcre is a man ·who makes undue preten.:;ion to wi-;dom, a 
man who ib wise after the event and tells exactly what he would have done if 
he had been there, and he 'Jrliewd it. · 

His LORDSHIP: \Vhat i;; thr. point of ti:e word "a1;re6"? 
~ir THuMAS \\'HITE: I do. not know, your lordship, but it is "wiseacrl!s". 

I do not knuw what tl1e derivation is, but it. is a m:m who haR undue preten-,ion 
to wi.;dom, and th<·rr. are mrn in this room, eoun:-'el Sir Tl~omas White: \Vhy, 
of cour,-,e, if I had only bePn in his place none of this would have happened at 
all, never would have happened. But, he was not in my place. The question 
is "How did thr ~Iini~ter drul witl1 it hone,:tly?" 

It wa,;, sugge,ted that an auditor was placed in the Banque Nationale. I 
doubt it. There may have been i,ome under:otanding with some other bank, 
in a friendly way, to chrrk up :oecuritirs, and -,,omcthing of that kind. But if 
an auditor wa~ put in did he diRcover anything. an, I, if so, why was it allowed to 
do bu-,ineH with tho publi<· for two years :.1ft~rwards? Wh ... t would have hap­
penerl to it,: depositors if the Provincial Government had not put up $15,000,-
000 to save it, and w0uld there have becn•a Commi~c;ion appointed as to justi­
fication? 

No Ministrr, your lordship, ha-, power to clo~e a bank. He ic, limited by 
law. Section 126, let us see how far that goes. I have told your lordship that 
you have the '3afeguard of the depositors. One of the main s3,fcguards is the 
capibl and the double liability on the shareholders. 

Mr. REID: What protrction is the double liability in a case of this kind? 
Sir THOMAS WmTi,,: That is, if it can be called. If you want any advice 

of that kind you will have to give me a fee. Section 126: 
"Any suspension by the bank of payment of any of its liabilities as 

they accrue, in specie or Dominion notes, shall, if it continues for ninety 
days consecutively, or at intervals· within twelve consecutive months, 
constitute the bank insolvent, and work a forfeiture of its charter or Act 
of incorporation, so far as regards all further banking operations." . . 
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'Now, what does that rontcmplatr? It contempluks t.he bank going on 
until, as a matter of fact, it is unabk to pay any specie and then it is given 
ninety days to resume :-perir paying. The rrason i:; obvious. They want to 
give the proprietors a chance if they can by any means bring it about to put the 
bank on it.c:. fret again. A Mini:-ter ean, u-: I have ~btt·d, take action thut will 
have the indiree~ effect of rkising a bunk, an<l his action will be proserution 
for false returns. 

:\fr. LEE: Could he publish the returns? 
Sir THOMAS WHITE: He does publish them. 
Now, ::\Ir. Commi:s:-ionn, I just want, in rlosing for to-day, to leave this 

thought with your lord,;hip: In view of the Crerur-Haney report, in view of 
the Hanry rrport with regard to N cw Orlean;;, in view of the opinion expre::c;-;ed 
by Mr. Crernr and hi,- fellow Diredors from the We,.;t, what would they have 
;-;aid in 1916 if I had clo,;pd up tlie Home Bank? ·well, I know what they would 
han said. ThPy would haw advocated appointing a Committee for the Min­
ister, that i;-; what they would have clone'. What would they have l-i:tid about the 
valur of the timber limit? What would thcv have -:aid about l\ew Orleans? 
What would tfiey have .-iad about the goodwill of that bank built up over 
twent,y years'? The goodwill of a hank is worth millions sometime,;. In the 
t'ase of the Merehanb Bank it was said to be worth ~even millions. The good­
will,. the e-;tablidnnPnt, the money spent, the rffort made, the adverti:3ing, the 
connertion, all lost if you clo:;e a bank. 

I do not mean to say for one moment, your lord>'hip, becau;:;e I want to put 
this thing frankly, that if any situation su<'h a-: ha.; bePn revealed underlying 
that bank, apart from the--e three or four lounr;:, if that situation had been 
:-m,pe('tcd and an auditor lih Georg<' Edwards, or Mr. Clark:3on of Toronto put 
in, I think it altogether probable he would have discovered that underlying; 
,ituation, but I do not believe that at that particular timq-although I think 
1hey would have called attention to it-th<'y would have taken the position that 
that timber limit account should be written down to half its value on the books 
of the company, or beyond that, from .what I know of auditor:-, but if I had 
do=:;ed the bank in 1916; apart altogrthrr from toe war, all I have to ::;ay i:3 that 
the agitation which would have m--ultPd would have been second only, if ,;1•cond, 
to what happened since thir,:: bank has closed its doors. But I want to ::iay 
this, that had absolutPly no influence upon mr with regard fo what I did, and 
that is Hhown absolutely by the correspemdenee. The correr;:pondencc. in this 
thing is r;:o clear that there i;; no room for doubt. Every single skp is set 1>ut 
in that correr;:pondcnee. It is not a matter qf the uncertain memory of a man 
going back for eight years. It i,- there, and I will take that up nf'xt in order of 
time . 

.. Just one other point. It takes years to build up goodwill and a day to 
wrPck it. People talk lig;htly of rer,::pon:-ibility. They say ''If I hnd been there 
I would have closrd that bank up quick." \Vould they? On the evidence before 
me, because that i;,. what I have got to go by, not by the real fad::i but tht> 
fad-; as I believe them honestly to be, and that is shown in the corrC',;pondPnce. 
You do not clo-;e up a bank because' it makes lo:-><pr,:: on three or four account~. 
You do not clo,;e up a bank if it lo,es $500,000 of it;; capital, or half its capital. 
There is many a bank in the world to-day that has lost a third or a half it;-; 
"apital and has become a strong, pownful institution under good manag<'ment. 

I have taken up a good dnd of your time, my lord, and I have to thank you 
for your exceeding courtr~y. I want to go on affrr the adjournmrnt, and what­
ever adjournmrnt will ;;uit you, sir, .and the other grntlemen, will absolutely 
f:uit me. 

(Proceedings stand adjourned at 4.40 p.m. Friday, 16th May, 1924. until 
10 a.m. Monday, 19th May, 1924). 


